
Date Published: 2 December 2022     

Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 6 December 2022 at 10.00 am

Council Chamber – Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Cllr Andrew 
Gravells MBE

2  Declarations of Interest 

To report any declarations of interest.

Cllr Andrew 
Gravells MBE

3  Minutes 

To confirm the minutes of previous meetings 

Cllr Andrew 
Gravells MBE

4  Public Questions 

At each meeting of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, there 
shall be up to 20 minutes set aside for members of the public, (including 
non-committee members), to make representation at the meeting. The 
process for submitting a representation will follow Gloucestershire County 
Council Constitution rules for making representation at public meetings.

The Council’s Constitution states that ‘any person who lives or works in the 
county, or is affected by the work of the County Council, may make written 
representation on any matter which relates to an item on the Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee agenda for that meeting’. 

Notification of the intention to make representation is required three clear 
working days before the date of the meeting, (excluding the day of the 
meeting). Where the person making representation attends the meeting in 
person, that individual will be invited to address the committee, (3 minutes 
per representative), to respond to the information provided in reply to the 
original representation.

The notification deadline to make representation at the committee meeting 
on 6 December 2022 was 4.00 pm on Wednesday 30 November 2022. 

Cllr Andrew 
Gravells MBE



    

SCRUTINY ITEMS

5  NHS Dentistry (Pages 1 - 14)

HOSC members to receive an update on recent developments in NHS 
Dentistry Services in Gloucestershire and to note work to progress the 
delegation of dental commissioning to ICBs in April 2023.

At the Full Council meeting on 9 November 2022, members considered a 
motion relating to NHS Dentistry, where members expressed concern about 
the quality and cost of dentistry in Gloucestershire. 

At the meeting, councillors resolved to: 

1. Write to the new Health and Social Care Secretary as well as 
Gloucestershire’s six MPs to express our concern for dentistry 
provision in Gloucestershire.

2. Call on Cabinet to ensure that council services work with schools, 
care homes and the NHS to coordinate dental visits to the people 
who need it most.

3. Ask the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Director of Public 
Health to bring a report to HOSC to explain what they are doing to 
promote good oral hygiene, specifically in children and young people 
and our vulnerable residents.

In response to the above motion, members to receive a report on oral 
health promotion initiatives.

NHS England

NHS 
Gloucestershire 

Gloucestershire 
County Council 

6  Mental Health Update (Pages 15 - 26)

An update on the delivery of mental health services from the 
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust. 

NHS 
Gloucestershire 

INFORMATION ITEMS

7  Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (GICS) Performance Report 
(Pages 27 - 48)

To receive an update on the performance of the Gloucestershire Integrated 
Care System (GICS) against NHS constitutional and other agreed 
standards.

NHS 
Gloucestershire 

8  NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board (ICB) Report (Pages 49 - 
74)

A report from the NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board (ICB), known 
collectively as NHS Gloucestershire. 
The report to include updates from Integrated Care System (ICS) partners 
responsible for overseeing the day-to-day commissioning and provision of 

NHS 
Gloucestershire 



    

NHS services in Gloucestershire.

9  Work Plan 

To note the dates of future meetings and to suggest items to include on the 
committee work plan. 

Cllr Andrew 
Gravells MBE

Membership – Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE (Chair), Cllr David Brown, Cllr Linda Cohen, 
Cllr David Drew (Vice-Chair), Cllr Stephan Fifield, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Stephen Hirst, 
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson and Cllr Alan Preest

Co-opted Members – Cllr Stephan Andrews, Cllr Adrian Bamford, Cllr Helen Molyneux, Cllr 
Collette Finnegan, Cllr Helen Fenton and Cllr Jill Smith

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Council Chamber.  
Completing this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent 
members from declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list 
will be available for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact Rob Ayliffe; Monitoring Officer/Head of Strategic Planning, 
Performance & Change.  01452 328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452 
324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Substitution arrangements are in place for scrutiny meetings (please refer to the 

Gloucestershire County Council Constitution for details).
2. Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 

permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary 
arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not 
wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on 
duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Minutes of the meeting of the Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 18 
October 2022 at 10.00 am in the Council Chamber at Shire Hall, Gloucester.

Present Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE (Chair)
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Linda Cohen
Cllr David Drew (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Tim Harman
Cllr Stephen Hirst

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr Stephen Andrews
Cllr Adrian Bamford
Cllr Collette Finnegan
Cllr Helen Fenton

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllrs Pam Tracey, Stephan Fifield and Jill Smith. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

3. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2022 were confirmed and agreed as an 
accurate record of that meeting.

4. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public representations were made at the meeting. 

5. NHS GLOUCESTERSHIRE WINTER SUSTAINABILITY PLAN 2022/23 

Eve Olivant and Mary Hutton from NHS Gloucestershire outlined proposals relating 
to the NHS Gloucestershire Winter Sustainability Plan 2022/23. Please refer to the 
presentation document published with the agenda for details of the proposals.  

Responding to questions, NHS Gloucestershire, acknowledged the challenges 
presented by the potential spread of new variants from the Covid-19 Coronavirus, in 
addition to anticipated pressures likely to impact on NHS services from large 
numbers of people experiencing flu symptoms. 

In response to the challenges, it was clarified that the proposals set out in the 
Winter Sustainability Plan 2022-23 did not differ significantly from the activities 
included in the Winter Plan from the previous year. 

The focus of the new plan would concentrate on the following areas of activity: 

 Prepare for new COVID-19 variants and other respiratory challenges

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

 Increase the amount of care provided outside hospitals, notably, in  Primary 
Care and Mental Health

 Increase the resilience provided by NHS 111 and 999 services
 Improve 999 Cat 2 responses and reduce ambulance handover times
 Expand the availability of alternative services without patients having to go to 

an acute hospital
 Reduce demands placed on acute and community hospital wards
 Ensure people are discharged safely and quickly from acute, mental health, 

and community settings
 Provide better support for people at home, including expanding ‘virtual 

wards’

Responding to questions on the response to new variants of the coronavirus and 
the measures in place to deliver the Covid-19 booster and flu vaccination, it was 
reported that: - 

1. Covid-19: The Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) had set 
out the following recommendations for the Autumn Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
Booster Programme. Those eligible for a further vaccine dose included:

 All adults aged 50 years and over
 Those aged 5 to 49 years in a clinical risk group, including pregnant women
 Those aged 5 to 49 years who are household contacts of people with 

immunosuppression
 Those aged 16 to 49 years who are carers
 Residents in a care home for older adults and staff working in care homes for 

older adults
 Frontline health and social care workers

2. Flu Vaccine. 
Although it was initially thought those eligible for the flu vaccine would be those 
over 65 and those in clinical risk groups, the Department of Health and Social Care 
(DHSC) had since announced it would be widening the offer of the free flu vaccine 
to more eligible groups. The additional groups would only be eligible after the most 
vulnerable, including previously announced pre-school and primary school children, 
those aged 65 years and over and those in clinical risk groups, have been offered 
the vaccine.

For further information, please visit https://www.gov.uk/government/news/over-50s-
to-be-offered-covid-19-booster-and-flu-jab-this-autumn 

NHS Gloucestershire confirmed it would be encouraging as many people as 
possible to have their vaccinations. This included those eligible to visit local 
pharmacies and drop in centres where vaccines were being offered. Recent reports 
confirmed, Gloucestershire, as a county was once again performing exceptionally 
well, (the highest in the country), in the roll out of booster and flu vaccines. To avoid 
impacting on other services, a separate team of NHS personnel had been 
appointed to deliver the vaccination programme.  

Page 2

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/over-50s-to-be-offered-covid-19-booster-and-flu-jab-this-autumn
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/over-50s-to-be-offered-covid-19-booster-and-flu-jab-this-autumn


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Several members expressed concern about the transfer of patients to urgent and 
emergency care by ambulance. It was confirmed that in the past few weeks there 
had been a significant improvement in meeting transfer targets and that a whole 
system reset plan had been put in place to address current issues.

Acknowledging concerns about increased demands being placed on the NHS 111 
and the NHS Out of Hours Service, members were reminded that, in response to 
the issues impacting on Urgent and Emergency Care Systems that had been raised 
at scrutiny committee meetings in July, the members of the Gloucestershire Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) and the Adult Care and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee (ASCC), had arranged to meet at a joint scrutiny committee 
meeting on 15 November 2022 to consider a single item agenda on the delivery of 
urgent and emergency care in Gloucestershire. 
 
Representatives from each of the following organisations would be invited to 
contribute to the discussion and to respond to member questions. In addition, 
members would receive an update on the conclusions and findings of the diagnostic 
work being undertaken by consultants, Newton Europe, (in partnership with 
Gloucestershire County Council and NHS Gloucestershire). 

The organisations invited to make representation at the meeting included: -  
 
NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board
NHS Gloucestershire Hospitals Foundation Trust 
NHS Gloucestershire Health and Care Foundation Trust 
NHS Gloucestershire Primary Care 
NHS 111 Service 
South-West Ambulance Service Foundation Trust 
Gloucestershire Police 
Gloucestershire County Council 

Responding to member requests, Cllr Andrew Gravells, had also arranged for a 
small group of members to visit SWAST and NHS 111 at the Bristol control offices 
on Tuesday 8 November 2022. The purpose of the visits would allow members to 
observe the working environment at each location and to speak to key workers. 
Information and data from the visits to be shared with the committee.

Healthwatch Gloucestershire suggested it might be useful to include/publicise an 
overview of information in the form of an NHS Gloucestershire directory of services. 
The information to highlight key services and promote recommended pathways for 
when a person becomes ill or is involved in an emergency situation. Healthwatch 
Gloucestershire offered to assist in producing the directory and this was welcomed. 
Members supported the proposal and agreed the proposal would be a useful 
alternative to assist those patients without access to online services. 

Given the significance of the challenges to the urgent and emergency care system 
in Gloucestershire and following on from the outcomes identified by Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) inspection reports in 2022/2022, it was agreed this extensive 
issue was likely to form the focus of ongoing work for the members of both the 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Adult Social Care and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee in 2023/24.

The proposed winter plan was noted, subject to a request for a review of 
performance in the Spring.  

6. REDUCING HEALTH INEQUALITIES (COUNCIL MOTION 881) 

At the Gloucestershire County Council meeting on 8 September 2021, members 
considered Motion 881, (Tackling poverty and deprivation in Gloucestershire), with 
a request to ‘bring regular progress reports on the progress of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board’s seven strategic priorities to the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee’. To view the discussion at the council meeting on 8 September 2021, 
please visit the Council website at the link here

Acknowledging common interests with the Adult Social Care and Communities 
Scrutiny Committee, members received a presentation from Kate Emsley, Senior 
Commissioning Manager at Gloucestershire County Council, on the impact of 
inequalities on the health and wellbeing on different groups of people in 
Gloucestershire. Please refer to the attached PowerPoint for details of the 
presentation.

Incorporated within the report was an overview of the outcomes of the 
Gloucestershire Levelling Up Our Communities Conference held on 19 May 2022. 
Recent data indicated that Gloucestershire enjoyed overall good health and life 
expectancy, thus emphasising a need to work hard to uncover and understand any 
inequalities that existed.

The work to concentrate on the seven strategic priorities identified by the 
Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB). These included: Physical 
Activity, Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), Mental Wellbeing, Loneliness and 
Social Isolation, Healthy Weight, Best Start in Life and Housing. It was explained 
that the priorities had been considered as HWBB priorities since 2019, with regular 
updates and reports at HWBB meetings. Each priority received dedicated agenda 
time to ‘spotlight’ the area in terms of progress, opportunities and challenges.

‘Highlight’ reports, reporting on each of the seven strategic priorities had been 
considered at a HWBB meeting held in September, in addition to a performance 
update report, comprising indicators for each priority area. 

Key highlights identified from the reports included: - 

1. Physical activity - distribution of over £250,000 grant funding; a pilot approach 
used to social prescribing for young people; delivery of on-line workshops for 
communities, clubs and organisations; strength and asset-based delivery in 
geographical areas of inequality; 

2. Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) - evidence of good professional 
knowledge of ACEs; 138 ACE Ambassadors forming a network of people to 
champion ACEs awareness across Gloucestershire; Action on ACEs’ partnered 

Page 4

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=36168


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

with the Nelson Trust to roll out training to 160 people from VCS organisations and 
ACEs Ambassadors

3. Mental wellbeing – roll out of a £200k community grants scheme for community 
led and based projects aimed at addressing the wider determinants of mental 
health and Five Ways to Wellbeing initiative, focusing on groups at highest risk of 
poor mental health and social isolation; provision of new early intervention mental 
health services throughout the pandemic to improve access to support for children 
and adults experiencing mild-moderate mental health issues working alongside 
existing commissioned services; completion of a suicide audit to inform a refresh of 
the countywide suicide prevention strategy and action plan; ongoing delivery of 
training in suicide prevention, mental health and crisis care awareness for VCS and 
public sector organisations.

4. Loneliness and social isolation – it was noted that, since the pandemic, there had 
been significant changes to peoples’ social connectedness. To address such 
changes, new and diversified community-based activities had been introduced to 
bring people together and to consider the differences and need for change since 
2019.

5. Healthy weight - Feeding Gloucestershire (FG) was established to coordinate 
and enable local efforts to help coordinate and support efforts to improve access to 
affordable healthy food for those affected by food insecurity, working with food aid 
providers and charities and develop a sustainable programme to eradicate food 
poverty; a successful bid had been made to participate in the Soil Association’s 
Sustainable Food Places (SFP) programme and become one of the country’s first 
Sustainable Food Counties; pilot delivery of community-based weight management 
support to continue in Gloucester City and the Forest of Dean until March 2023, to 
be followed with a countywide children and young people’s community weight 
management service.  

6. Best Start in Life – highlights from the nine focus areas introduced to help 
support families seek the best start in life included: The Steps Ahead Programme, 
funded through the Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) Grant, (providing 
tailored packages of care to support families impacted by the pandemic in all areas 
of child development); equity audit of Gloucestershire’s maternity services, 
(introduced to make improvements to services for women from areas of deprivation 
and some ethnic minority groups); help provided to young children who had missed 
out on support provided during the pandemic;  

7. Housing and Health – this priority had shifted significantly during the past year 
due to the Ukraine situation and the use of contingency hotels for asylum seekers. 
At the time of the meeting, Gloucestershire was hosting refugees through a variety 
of schemes, including the Gloucestershire Refugee Resettlement Programme 
(GRRP) for Syrian refugees, the Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy, the 
Homes for Ukraine (HFU) scheme and the Ukraine Family Scheme

It was noted that significant changes had impacted on the county since the priorities 
had been identified in 2019, notwithstanding the COVID pandemic which had 
created specific challenges in progressing each of the priorities. It was agreed the 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

current cost-of-living rise would undoubtedly affect the outcomes of the priority 
areas and present new challenges.

It was confirmed that the HWBB priorities would now form part of the developing 
Integrated Care Partnership Strategy, with a focus on long-term change from 
tackling the wider determinants of health and primary prevention. It was requested 
that the members of both committees should continue to receive periodical updates 
on each of the strategic priorities.

Cabinet Member, Cllr Nick Housden, informed the meeting that the County Council 
would be launching its Levelling Up Together Grant Scheme that day, committing 
£1.5million to delivering initiatives considered to be the most effective for the 10 
most deprived communities in the county. Cllr Housden said he hoped to see 
improved opportunities for both children and adults from the huge investment, in 
addition to creating improvements in wellbeing, skills and employability. 

Responding to requests on how to support work within local communities, including 
the work of voluntary organisations, members were advised to visit two useful 
websites, including the ‘Your Circle’ website and the ‘Know your own Patch’ 
network. Referring to work undertaken by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at 
Cheltenham Borough Council, members noted the importance of promoting joined 
up working by the District and Borough Councils. Members also acknowledged the 
impact of inequalities on mental health and the importance of early intervention. It 
was suggested that mental health be added to the committee work plan for 
consideration at a future meeting and the suggestion was noted.  

In addition to the report, members received a detailed update on the ‘Levelling Up 
Our Communities Conference’ held on Thursday 19 May 2022. The conference was 
attended by over 131 people from a broad range of voluntary sector and community 
groups and public sector leaders. To view the conference report and summary of 
the discussions, including next steps, please refer to the link here. It was agreed the 
conference had been useful in highlighting how important it was to work together to 
reinforce the links between communities, voluntary and community sector partners, 
public sector organisations and businesses.

Strongly advocating the need to maintain a firm commitment on tackling inequalities 
and in making real changes to people’s lives, members agreed it was essential to 
adopt a coordinated approach and requested regular updates on the work going 
forward. 

Cllr Housden agreed it was important to maintain the momentum on this area of 
work. Thanking the County Council’s Public Health Team, Cllr Housden said this 
was not the end but the beginning of the work. 

The report was noted. 

URGENT ITEM: CARE QUALITY COMMISSION GLOUCESTERSHIRE 
HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST INSPECTION REPORT

This item was considered as an item of urgent business in accordance with 

Page 6

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s85960/Item%206%20-%20Levelling%20Up%20Conference%2019.5.22%20Report.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Paragraph 7 of Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution: Rules of Procedure/Rules on 
Access to Information about the County Council’s Formal Business. 

The item was added to the agenda at the request of the Chair of the 
Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Cllr Andrew Gravells.  

Under consideration of the urgent item, members of the Gloucestershire Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee were invited to ask questions on the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
Inspection Report published by the CQC on 7 October 2022. The report relates to 
inspections of Gloucestershire Royal Hospital and Cheltenham General Hospital on 
12-13 April 2022 and 14-16 June 2022. 

Representatives from the Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust in 
attendance at the meeting gave a verbal update on the findings of the inspection 
report and responded to questions from the members of the committee. Please see 
attached the summary report presented at the meeting. 

To visit the CQC webpage please go to the link here

To view the inspection report relating to the inspection of Gloucestershire Hospitals 
(published on 7 October 2022) please go to the link here

Please also refer to section 3.1.2 of the One Gloucestershire NHS Integrated Care 
Board Report at item 8 of the agenda for comments from the GHNHSFT. 

To view the extensive committee discussion on the item, please visit the 
Gloucestershire County Council website at the link here for a recording of the 
meeting. 

Pending the response to the Care Quality Commission (CQC) Inspection report, 
members agreed to await until the formal response was publically available, and in 
the meantime, requested to have sight of the Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust Action Plan to consider the 49 actions that had been agreed. 

7. NHS ONE GLOUCESTERSHIRE INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM (ICS) 
PERFORMANCE REPORT 

The committee received an update on the performance of the Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) in relation to NHS constitutional and other 
agreed standards. The report was taken as read at the meeting and can be viewed 
at the link here.

Responding to specific issues involving potentially personalised information, 
members were advised to contact NHS Gloucestershire representatives after the 
meeting to discuss the issues in more detail. 

The update was noted. 

11. ONE GLOUCESTERSHIRE NHS INTEGRATED CARE BOARD (ICB) UPDATE 

Page 7

https://www.cqc.org.uk/location/RTE03
https://api.cqc.org.uk/public/v1/reports/dc362d22-79de-4ddb-9260-d6ad4890db1c?20221007070601
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/online-meetings-archive/october-2022-online-meetings/joint-meeting-with-adult-social-care-scrutiny-committee-health-overview-scrutiny-committee-tuesday-18-october-2022-1000-am/
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=772&MId=10770&Ver=4


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

The committee received a detailed update on the One Gloucestershire Integrated 
Care System (ICS) Partnership, (the ICP received formal recognition on 1 July 
2022). The report was produced by the One Gloucestershire NHS Integrated Care 
Board. 

One member enquired about the Lydney/South Forest GP provision going forward 
and agreed to receive an update after the meeting. 

The report was taken as read at the meeting and can be viewed at the link here.

9. FIT FOR THE FUTURE 2: OUTCOMES OF ENGAGEMENT REPORT 

A briefing paper and Fit for the Future 2 Output of Engagement Report was shared 
with committee members in advance of the meeting, with a request for questions or 
points of clarification to be sent to the NHS in advance of the meeting. 

No questions or points of clarification were received ahead of the meeting. 

The report was taken as read at the meeting. 

To view the full report, please visit the Fit for the Future 2 Project page on the Get 
Involved in Gloucestershire online participation platform: 
 https://getinvolved.glos.nhs.uk/fit-for-the-future-2

NHS colleagues confirmed that the Output of Engagement Report, (setting out all 
the engagement activity and responses to the engagement that took place during 
May and June 2022), had been reviewed by Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust, the ICB and NHS England. The quality of the report was noted by 
the committee.

In response to member questions, NHS colleagues confirmed that, as part of the 
overall engagement with people and communities, key stakeholders, voluntary and 
community sector partners, GP Practice Patient Participation Groups (PPG) were 
invited to participate in the engagement over the summer. 

The committee discussed next steps and considered whether further public 
involvement would provide additional information, such as alternatives or impacts, 
that could influence decision making. The committee concluded that the 
engagement undertaken to date was sufficient and requested that updates be 
brought to future meetings of the committee regarding the implementation of Fit for 
the Future 2 service changes.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 1.35pm 

Page 8

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=772&MId=10770&Ver=4
https://getinvolved.glos.nhs.uk/fit-for-the-future-2


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Reducing Health Inequalities: an 

update on Council Motion 881 –

Tackling Poverty and 

Deprivation in Gloucestershire

Tuesday 18th October 2022

Update provided by Kate Emsley, Senior Commissioning 
Manager, PWC Hub, GCC

P
age 1

M
inute Item

 6

P
age 11



Health inequalities are avoidable, 
unfair and systematic differences in 
health between different groups of 

people.

They are differences between 
people or groups due to social, 

geographical, biological or other 
factors. These differences have a 

huge impact, because they result in 
people who are worst off 

experiencing poorer health and 
shorter lives.

Defining health inequalities

P
age 2

P
age 12



What influences our health?

The rainbow model maps the
relationship between the
individual, their environment
and health.

Dahlgren and Whitehead framework (1991)

P
age 3

P
age 13



Who experiences health inequalities?

P
age 4

P
age 14



Why are health inequalities important in the 
Gloucestershire system?

A boy born today in the least deprived
area in Gloucestershire can expect to live
on average 8.7 years longer than a boy
born in the most deprived area in
Gloucestershire, and a girl 6.5 years longer.

The unemployment rate in the most
deprived decile is 6 times higher than in
the least deprived decile.

“The more equal and engaged people

feel, the better a citizen they feel

empowered to be”

“There is good evidence

that reducing inequalities in

health is good for everyone

socially, economically and

in terms of overall health

and wellbeing”

P
age 5

P
age 15



“There is good evidence

that reducing inequalities in

health is good for everyone

socially, economically and

in terms of overall health

and wellbeing”

Relevant strategies

P
age 6

P
age 16



“There is good evidence

that reducing inequalities in

health is good for everyone

socially, economically and

in terms of overall health

and wellbeing”

Programmes of work focusing on health 

inequalities in Gloucestershire

P
age 7

P
age 17



“There is good evidence

that reducing inequalities in

health is good for everyone

socially, economically and

in terms of overall health

and wellbeing”

“The single most important

intervention is to understand

that there is no single most

important intervention”

Harry Rutter, London School of Hygiene and Tropical

Medicine

P
age 8

P
age 18



CQC Inspection 

Findings: Well-led 

and Surgery

P
age 9

M
inute A

nnex 

P
age 19



2GLOUCESTERSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 2

 We have had an unprecedented two-and-a-half years in which 

staff have been selfless in their efforts to deliver the best care in difficult 

circumstances; the pressures have changed, rather than diminished

 The CQC findings provide a helpful perspective on the Trust, which tells us 

that there are issues to address many of which have their origins in 

pandemic context, others (relating to culture) cannot be explained away by 

the pandemic and ongoing pressures

 The issues identified are not evident everywhere all the time, and are not 

demonstrated by everyone, but they are having a disproportionate impact  

 There is much to reflect on, but of utmost importance is that we listen to our 

staff and work together to respond to the issues, using the findings and 

recommendations as a platform to expedite the change already underway

 I am personally disappointed that the report didn’t reflect more of the 

incredible things our colleagues achieve every single day 

Reflections 

P
age 10

P
age 20



3GLOUCESTERSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 3

CQC ratings: Surgery  

P
age 11

P
age 21



4GLOUCESTERSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 4

What led the CQC to judge the service as inadequate?

 High number of never events – 7 in the previous year

 Use of theatre recovery overnight 

 Insufficient capacity in our Surgical Assessment Unit(SAU) leading to long waits for patients to be 

assessed 

 Mandatory training and appraisal below expected levels

 High staff vacancy rate and turnover

 Our estate was considered not fit for purpose in some areas

 Staff reported incidents, which were investigated but dissemination of the learning from these 

incidents was not always evident

P
age 12

P
age 22



5GLOUCESTERSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 5

What led the CQC to judge the service as inadequate?
 High number of never events – seven never events in the previous year. An improvement programme 

was instigated two years ago and we have not had a theatre never event for 310 days from a previous 

median of one every 59 days

 Use of theatre recovery overnight – lacks privacy dignity but very safe and enabled patients to have 

cancer surgery that they would not otherwise have had. 2500 cancer operations undertaken during the 

pandemic of whom 252 were looked after in recovery. 100% of patients surveyed said they would rather 

have been cared for in recovery than had to wait at home for their surgery

 Insufficient capacity of the Surgical Assessment Unit(SAU) – recognised by the Trust in 2020 and a new 

unit comes on board in summer 2023 as part of a £100m+ investment in our estate

 Mandatory training and appraisal - when staff vacancies were at their highest which was very common 

during the pandemic COVID, we prioritised patient facing activities over training and development. 85% 

of staff were up to date against an internal standard of 90%

 High staff vacancy and turnover rate  -Our greatest challenge. Nationally,40,000 nurses left the NHS 

last year with fewer than 42% saying they would not recommend the NHS as a place to work. We have 

and continue to have an unrelenting focus recruitment and most importantly retention

P
age 13

P
age 23



6GLOUCESTERSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 6

In summary

• The CQC identified a number of risks to safety which if poorly 

controlled and / or persisted could lead to unsafe services

• Our surgical outcomes are in line with surgical units nationally and 

better in some areas

• However, I do not believe our surgical service is unsafe and we are 

determined to address the issues raised as we begin to reset services 

post-pandemic

• Our staff are our greatest asset and I am determined we will support 

them to ensure that when they are next inspected, they will be rightly 

proud of the CQCs findings 

49 
actions

22 
achieved

23 
on track

4 
at risk

P
age 14

P
age 24



7GLOUCESTERSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 7

CQC ratings: The Trust 

P
age 15

P
age 25



8GLOUCESTERSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 8

 Leaders did not always use the organisation’s values to improve the culture and services for 

patients. 

 They observed a high tolerance of poor behaviours

 The Trust did not have an open culture where staff could raise concerns without fear

 Leaders did not always promote equality, diversity and inclusion in their daily work, and 

some staff groups did not get the same opportunities for career development

 There was a disconnect between some senior level leaders’ perception and the reality for 

the frontline staff

Key findings 

P
age 16

P
age 26



9GLOUCESTERSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 9

 Most leaders have the skills and abilities, experience and capacity to manage the 

Trust; however, many were new 

 The Trust had a vision for what it wanted to achieve and a strategy to turn it into 

action, developed with relevant stakeholders

 A review of the effectiveness of committee structures and governance was underway. 

Changes were being implemented to improve risk management and visibility from 

frontline services to the Board

 Leaders encouraged innovation and participation in research and staff, and leaders 

had a good understanding of quality improvement methods and the skills to use them

Key findings 

P
age 17

P
age 27



10GLOUCESTERSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 10

 Being brave and bold 

 Colleagues who do not demonstrate our values, will have no place in our organisation

 Zero tolerance of discrimination, bullying and harassment

 Encouraging staff to surface the  issues : we can’t work with what we’re not talking about

 Talking, thinking and problem-solving together

Next steps – the “how”

Relationships 

are the key

P
age 18

P
age 28



11GLOUCESTERSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 11

 All Senior Leaders “Back to the Floor” 

– Relationships, empathy, understanding, insight, humility

 Full-time Freedom to Speak Up Guardian role: linked with cultural work

 Staff Experience Improvement Programme

– Survey results: clarity of focus

– Restorative Just and Learning Culture implementation: 

placing emphasis on culture and learning

– Living and breathing the Trust’s values and behaviours: 

team development, action learning and support for leaders and managers

 People and OD Department transformation programme to ensure we 

have a function with the capacity and capability to lead the change 

necessary

Next steps: Well-led – the ‘what’

‘Inch-wide, 

mile deep’

P
age 19

P
age 29



12GLOUCESTERSHIRE HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 12

Questions 

P
age 20

P
age 30



 

1 
 

Gloucestershire Dental Access Update  

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

6 December 2022 

 

1. Background 

 

As described in our previous briefing to scrutiny colleagues in July, NHS England is 

responsible for the commissioning of dental services across England, having taken over 

from Primary Care Trusts when the NHS was reorganised in 2013. Whilst the funding for 

dental provision is decided nationally, NHS England’s regional team in the South West 

manages these contracts locally.   

 

Dental services are provided in Gloucestershire in three settings: 

 

 Primary care – incorporating orthodontics 

 Secondary care  

 Community services – incorporating special care 

 

2. Primary Care (High Street Dentistry) 

 

The dental practices are themselves independent businesses, operating under contracts 

with NHS England.  Many also offer private dentistry.  All contract holders employ their own 

staff and provide their own premises; some premises costs are reimbursed as part of their 

contract.   

 

Dental contracts are commissioned in units of dental activity (UDAs).  As outlined in our 

report in July, the table below sets out treatment bands and their UDA equivalent: 

Band Treatment covered Number of UDAs 

1 This covers an examination, diagnosis 

(including x-rays), advice on how to prevent 

future problems, a scale and polish if clinically 

needed, and preventative care such as the 

application of fluoride varnish or fissure sealant 

if appropriate. 

1 

2 This covers everything listed in Band 1 above, 

plus any further treatment such as fillings, root 

canal work, removal of teeth but not more 

complex items covered by Band 3. 

3 

3 This covers everything listed in Bands 1 and 2 

above, plus crowns, dentures, bridges, and 

other laboratory work. 

12 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



 

2 
 

4 This covers emergency care in a primary care 

NHS dental practice such as pain relief or a 

temporary filling. 

1.2 

 

3. Access rates to high street dentistry 

 

The table below shows that since NHSE SW established the dental reform programme there 

has been a slight increase in the number of patients in Gloucestershire who have been able 

to access an NHS dentist for routine care. 

 

Access rate December 2020 December 2021 June 2022 

Adults 36.5% 28.6% 29.2% 

Children 30.8% 43.9% 45.8% 

 

For example, the total number of adults seeing an NHS dentist in Gloucestershire has 

slightly increased from 28.6% in December 2021 to 29.2% in June 2022.  However, the 

access rate for the adult population of Gloucestershire 29.2% is less than the access rate for 

England 36.9%. 

 

Similarly, the number of children who have seen a dentist in Gloucestershire in the last 12 

months has increased from 43.9% in December 2021 to 45.8% in June 2022.  However, the 

proportion of children in Gloucestershire accessing a dentist (45.8%) is still slightly lower 

than the access rate for children across the whole of England (46.2%).  

 

For further details on these statistics, please see: 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-tools-and-services/data-services/general-

practice-data-hub/dentistry 

 

4. Commissioned dental activity 

 

 

There are 69 practices in Gloucestershire who provide general NHS dental services.  

NHS England has commissioned dental activity from these providers in Gloucestershire as 

follows: 

Page 32

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-tools-and-services/data-services/general-practice-data-hub/dentistry
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-tools-and-services/data-services/general-practice-data-hub/dentistry


 

3 
 

 2022/2023, total UDAs commissioned thus far is 807,096 – value 

£21,400,000.00. 

 

 Following recent procurement process, we have now commissioned an additional 

3,000 units of dental activity in GL1, this being within the Gloucestershire Core 20 

area.   

 

5. Orthodontics 

Post-Covid, orthodontic services have been able to return to normal levels of activity more 

rapidly than high street dentistry and normal contract volumes are in place for 2022/23. 

There is an additional initiative being rolled out for non-recurrent Orthodontic activity from 1 

November 2022 to the 31 March 2023. This additional non-recurrent activity and funding is 

to be used to reduce waiting times for those patients on the practice waiting list who are 

eligible and ready to receive orthodontic treatment. To date three Orthodontic practices in 

Gloucestershire have signed up to the initiative, which equates to an additional 585 patients 

gaining access in 22/23. 

 

6. Urgent dental care 

 

Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust provide and manage in-hours 

appointments for patients with an urgent dental need who do not have access to an NHS 

dentist for patients in Gloucestershire.  This service is for patients in need of relief from acute 

dental pain; infection; bleeding or trauma.   

 

Out of Hours patients should contact NHS 111.  Only those people with a significant dental 

emergency, such as rapid facial swelling, uncontrolled bleeding, or facial trauma, would be 

expected to be treated at accident and emergency departments. 

 

Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Trust also manages out of hours appointments for the 

whole of Gloucestershire.  They provide appointments at the weekends and bank holidays in 

clinics across the county.  

 

We are currently in the process of commissioning a stabilisation pilot programme, a further 

step to urgent care in getting patients a more permanent solution to their dental problem. 

The pilot will run over an 18-month period or until March 2024. The programme is aimed at 

patients who do not have a regular dentist, patients can expect to receive treatment that will 

stabilise their oral health. Expressions of interest have been received and we are working 

with interested providers to mobilise additional activity where we are able. To date there has 

been one practice in Gloucestershire that has signed up to the programme. 

 

7. Workforce 

 

A key factor affecting access to NHS dentistry is workforce. The lack of dental practitioners 

in the area undermines the ability of high street practices to meet their contracts. 

 

As NHS England does not employ dentists directly, the size of shortfall is difficult to know 

exactly. However, based on the scale of UDA underperformance and the expected capacity 

Page 33



 

4 
 

of a dentist, we would conclude that Gloucestershire is short of around 31 whole-time 

equivalent dentists.  

 

The reasons for the unwillingness of dentists to come to the South West are not necessarily 

different to those affecting other sectors of the health and social care system. 

Gloucestershire is viewed as a lifestyle choice by both the medical and dental profession 

and, due to several factors including, limited training opportunities, the younger generation 

often tend to favour the larger cities.  

 

Further reasons for the unwillingness of dentist to come to the South West is the low UDA 

value, which is nationally determined. This is becoming an increasing concern across the 

region with dental practices becoming financially unviable, due to the large increase in 

running costs, but no proportionate increase in contract value. These factors make it 

extremely difficult for practices to attract dentists to the area and are also a large contributing 

factor for dentists opting to go private as opposed to continuing with NHS dental contracts.   

 

Further training opportunities tend to be aligned with the big teaching hospitals. While we do 

have a very successful dental school in Bristol, the need to train and retain dentists in the 

area outstrips its capacity.  

 

Foundation dentists, who are undergoing further training for a year after graduation, tend to 

relocate at the end of their foundation year; very few of the annual cohort remain in practice 

in the South West.  Many move out of the area to follow training pathways or to take 

hospital-based jobs.  

 

Reasons for established dentists leaving, include the challenges of working in pressurised 

NHS practices and the opportunities in private care. Anecdotally, it also seems that some EU 

dentists are leaving and fewer are arriving. 

 

The SW dental transformation programme includes a range of initiatives to address the 

workforce gap and associated access issues. 

   

8. Improving access to primary care for people in Gloucestershire 

 

To address the issues above, NHS England is seeking to increase access to NHS dental 

services by:  

 

 Running a South West recruitment day supported by the British Dental Association 

and dental providers to try and attract all practitioners to move into the region.  

 Working with dental providers to ensure existing contracts are delivering to their 

maximum potential.   

 Reviewing under and over performance of dental contracts on a regular basis and, as 

part of reconciling activity to contract payment, explore with those contractors with 

the most variance what they are doing to address under performance.  

 While we are able to issue new contracts for NHS primary care dental activity in 

areas of greatest need, we are having conversations where we can adjust activity 

and reallocate the activity where necessary,  

Page 34



 

5 
 

 Developing plans to commission dental services in areas where there is inequality in 

access, within available resources.  We are working closely with dentists, public 

health, and the dental school to develop referral pathways and identify initiatives to 

increase dental capacity across the region through the South West’s Local Dental 

Network and six Managed Clinical Networks for dentistry.  

 In collaboration with Health Education England and the Universities of Plymouth and 

Bristol, are offering funding to dentists working in the South West who are 

undertaking post-graduate courses in Restorative; Periodontal; Endodontic and Oral 

Surgery to increase the number of local specialists within our region.  

 Working towards further innovation with existing providers to address regionalised 

concerns. This includes adjusting contract activity, allowing for reinvestment. Any 

schemes will take into account national initiatives and regional priorities, e.g., Dental 

Checks by 1 campaign (to ensure all children see a dentist as their teeth come 

through, or by their first birthday, at the latest) or increasing urgent care sessions for 

patients who do not have a regular dentist. 

 

The SW Dental Team are currently commissioning additional mandatory dental services 

across the region. Priority areas have been identified focused on replacing activity which has 

ceased within this financial year. Contract performance criteria for these new contracts will 

include the measurement and assessment of the number of additional new patients 

accepted for treatment and delivery against the Starting Well Core initiative, which aims to 

increase access for 0–2-year-olds, promoting early attendance at a dental practice and 

offering preventative care. The first phase of procurement has now been completed with 

additional dental access being secured in the GL1 postcode area, for approximately 1000 

patients. 

 

9. Secondary care provision 

As described in our previous briefing in July, NHS England contract with Gloucester 

Hospitals NHS Trust to provide secondary care including oral surgery and orthodontic 

treatments for the population of Gloucestershire. Oral surgery is also provided by Tetbury 

Hospital, the ICB being the lead commissioner. 

 

Secondary care has been impacted greatly by the pandemic as all dental services initially 

ceased to redeploy the workforce to treat covid patients in hospitals.  All services have now 

been resumed but in some cases, the frequency of clinics have been reduced due to the 

capacity at the hospital sites.  This has led to an increase in waiting list times for some 

specialties.  Work continues with providers to support a reduction in waiting times. 

 

10. Community services 

 

Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Trust is commissioned by NHS England to provide a 

range of community services, such as special care dentistry, Children’s General Anaesthetic, 

Adult General Anaesthetic and Orthodontics (complementing high street orthodontics). 

 

They operate from the following sites across Gloucestershire. 

 

Southgate Moorings, Gloucester 

Redwood House, Stroud 

Page 35



 

6 
 

St Pauls Medical Centre Cheltenham 

Lydney Health Centre 

Cirencester Hospital 

Springbank Resource Centre, Cheltenham 

 

Although they have now resumed their normal service provision, they are still covering some 

urgent care provision for non-registered patients as demand for this service is still high. 

 

11. Dental Reform Strategy for the South West 

 

Actions Planned for 22/23 Onwards 
 
Now that we have a more thorough understanding of the issues, where need is greatest and 
what current students and the dental community suggest would make them more likely to 
work for the NHS in the South West, each working group has developed a workplan for the 
coming years. The following action plans are subject to change as we continue to consider 
new ideas and suggestions and learn from the pilot projects, we have commissioned to 
determine what works best. 
 

Programme Commitments 
 
In expanding on its objectives, the reform programme has developed a range of 
commitments related to the workplan. 
 

11.1  Access 

The following summarises the commitments and actions the dental reform programme will 
complete over the next year to improve access to NHS dental services in the South West: 
Since the last paper was submitted the follow progress has been made, 
 

 The Urgent Care Managed Clinical Network are working to finalise current and 

aspirational pathways for future commissioning of urgent care. 

 Dental helpline, 111 pathways are being reviewed, developing standardised 

access routes. 

 Stabilisation pilot programme is currently being commissioned and the pilot will 

run until March 24. 

 Routine pathway with Community Providers is completed, with an increase of 

appointments per system by 5%. 

 Starting Well Core, increase access for 0-2 years, launched October 2022. This 

now forms part of the criteria for the newly procured dental contracts. 

 Welfare checks for under 18s waiting for dental general anaesthetic is ongoing  

 Improved access for Armed Forces families review (via MDS procurement and 

stabilisation) is due to start quarter 4. 

 Domiciliary care review has been completed, and suggestions for change have 

been agreed, which will increase the number of older people accessing dental. 

 

11.2  Workforce 

 

 Dental Stakeholder Conference to be held in January 2023. 

 Website signposting to dental vacancies and training opportunities is ongoing. 

Page 36



 

7 
 

 Dental workforce data review to support the development of the workforce action 

plan, is ongoing. 

 PLVE - The Performers List Validation by Experience programme enables the 

NHS to employ overseas dentists. There are now discussions underway with 

both the Professional Standards Team and Health Education England to look at 

ways in which criteria, process and regulations can be improved to increase 

access for overseas dentists. 

 Mapping utilisation of dental chairs is taking place to better understand were 

there may be capacity, is ongoing. 

 South West Dental Education Review programme stakeholder group, started in 

October and is being led by Health Education England. 

 Tier 2 accreditation panel has been established work is ongoing. 

 

11.3  Oral Health 

 

 First Dental Steps, final arrangements are being made for commissioning in 

Gloucestershire. 

 Supervised Toothbrushing, procurement is working to release an Expression of 

Interest by 25th November for each local area, with returns evaluation being done 

mid-January 2023. 

 Task and finish group to review oral health among older population, has started 

with a piece of work in care homes. 

 Task and finish group to review green impact on dentistry and rollout of national 

toolkit, is awaiting feedback from national colleagues. 

 

12. Delegation of Primary Care Commissioning   

 

We have been reporting all Pharmacy, Optometry and Dental related stakeholder 

communications and engagement activity to Integrated Commissioning Boards (ICBs) 

monthly since the end of July. Engaging at various levels to agree our future ways of 

working, which has led to the codesign of the structure and function of the NHSE SW 

regional commissioning hub. The hub is where ICBs will be able to access existing 

subject matter expertise and commissioning support for delegated services from April 

2023 and beyond. Scrutineers can be assured that we are working together to ensure a 

safe, seamless transition. ICB colleagues are also participating in each of the reform 

programme working groups as well as working with commissioners on a local level. 

 

13. Summary 

 

Gloucestershire scrutiny colleagues are asked to: 

 Consider the underlying causes of the access difficulties that people are experiencing 
in Gloucestershire and across the country. 

 Consider the ongoing work of NHS England South West dental reform programme 
board to address these and improve the oral health of our population. 

 Work in partnership with NHSE South West dental reform team to consider ways to 

market Gloucestershire to attract the dental and other clinical workforce that it needs, 

and to encourage more young people in Gloucestershire schools and colleges to 

consider a career in healthcare. 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

REPORT TO OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Report Title: Oral Health Promotion Update 

Reporting to: Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 6 December 2022

Author/ 
Presenting 
Officer: 

Beth Smout, Specialty Registrar in Public Health
Siobhan Farmer, Director of Public Health

Purpose of the 
report: 

To provide an update to Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
on oral health promotion activities that Gloucestershire County 
Council currently provide, commission and support. 

Background 
documents:

Oral health - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Health and Care Bill: water fluoridation - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Improving oral health: an evidence-informed toolkit for local 
authorities - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Summary: At the Full Council meeting on 9 November 2022, members 
considered a motion relating to NHS Dentistry, where members 
expressed concern about the quality and cost of dentistry in 
Gloucestershire and believed every Gloucestershire resident 
should have a right to a healthy mouth at affordable NHS rates. 
As part of this motion, Council resolved to ask the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and the Director of Public Health to bring a report 
to the Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(HOSC) to explain what is being done to promote good oral 
hygiene, specifically in children and young people and our 
vulnerable residents.

Outcomes:   The committee to note the report and make comment on the 
activities outlined. 

      

                                                                                                                                                     

Page 39

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/oral-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-oral-health-an-evidence-informed-toolkit-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-oral-health-an-evidence-informed-toolkit-for-local-authorities


1. Background

1.1.  Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is statutorily responsible for 
improving the oral health of its local population. Local authorities are 
expected to do this by: 

 Providing or commissioning appropriate oral health promotion 
programmes to meet local need.

 Providing or commissioning oral health surveys (oral health surveys 
are carried out as part of the Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities (OHID) National Dental Epidemiology Programme.

1.2.  Data on the oral health of the population is limited. The most recent data 
regarding the oral health of children comes from the national oral health 
survey, part of the national Dental Epidemiology Programme. Every two 
years, the survey focuses specifically on the oral health of five-year-old 
children. In the intervening years, the Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities (OHID) choose which population group the survey will focus on. 
As a result of the disruption caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the latest 
data for Gloucestershire comes from the 2019 survey of 5-year-old children. 

1.3.This data shows that 19.5% of 5-year-old children in Gloucestershire have 
dental decay. This is lower than the average for both the South West (20.4%) 
and England (23.4%). However, rates of dental decay vary across the county. 
26.5% of 5-year-old children in the Forest of Dean and 24.7% of 5-year-old 
children in Gloucestershire have experience of dental decay, compared to 
just 12.8% of 5-year-old children in Stroud. Dental decay is strongly 
associated with deprivation, with 5-year-olds living in the most deprived areas 
being more likely to experience dental decay than those living in the least 
deprived areas of Gloucestershire. 

Figure 1: Prevalence of experience of dental decay in 5-year-olds in 
Gloucestershire, by lower tier local authority (Source: Public Health England)

1.4. In line with the life course approach outlined in Gloucestershire’s Joint Health 
& Wellbeing Strategy (2019-2030), oral health promotion activities in 
Gloucestershire are targeted towards two significant stages of the life course:

Page 40



 Early years and best start in life – targeting those aged 0-5 years, as 
good oral health in early childhood has a positive impact in later life.

 Ageing well – targeting vulnerable older people who rely on others for 
good oral health. 

2. Current position

2.1.  GCC currently provide or commission the following oral health promotion 
activities and surveys:

Health visitors: provision of toothbrushing packs and oral health advice 
2.2.GCC’s Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities (PWC) Hub procured 2,750 

toothbrushing packs for Gloucestershire’s Health Visiting Service. These are 
being distributed to targeted children aged between nine months and one 
year during their routine developmental review and provided along with 
dental advice. Further oral hygiene packs will be distributed to families 
through the First Dental Steps programme.  

2.3.Health visitors across Gloucestershire also provide advice and support 
around oral health as part of the healthy child programme. They provide oral 
health advice, encourage dental attendance and signpost to dental services 
where required, and identify families that may need additional support (for 
example, the siblings of children who have required a dental extraction due to 
tooth decay).

Oral health promotion in schools
2.4.  GCC’s PWC Hub also commission Gloucestershire Healthy Learning and 

Living (Gloucestershire’s Healthy Schools Programme) to work with schools 
to develop their health and wellbeing programmes. This includes oral health, 
alongside healthy eating.  

Oral health survey
2.5.  OHID and GCC have commissioned Gloucestershire’s Community Dental 

Service to conduct an oral health survey of a small sample of Year 6 children 
across Gloucestershire. This oral health survey is part of the National Dental 
Epidemiology Programme. The survey provides information about the oral 
health of children, as part of the local authority’s legal responsibility to 
monitor the oral health of people in Gloucestershire. Last year’s survey was 
of 5-year-old children in reception and year 1 classes across the country; the 
results of this survey are due to be published by OHID in early 2023.

2.6.This year’s survey collects information on the oral health of Year 6 children 
and how this affects their daily lives. The findings of this survey will help to 
inform planning to improve oral health, reduce health inequalities and shape 
the provision of treatment services.

Oral health training for care home staff
2.7.The development of an oral healthcare training package for care home staff 

has been a key priority area within the oral health portfolio. The development 
of a training offer was originally discussed prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
but capacity in the adult social care system has changed significantly in this 
time. 

2.8. Individuals from GCC’s PWC Hub, Adults Integrated Commissioning, the 
ICB, Community Dental Service, Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust and Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust have all 

Page 41



come together to discuss a county-wide approach to oral healthcare training. 
This will involve a blended offer of both virtual and face-to-face training, 
alongside the development of reference resources and training aids that care 
home staff can refer to whenever required. 

2.9.The approach will be piloted in approximately 10 care homes across 
Gloucestershire in 2023, including both nursing and residential units, with a 
wider rollout informed by an evaluation of the pilot.   

Water fluoridation 

2.10 Water fluoridation schemes involve adding fluoride to the drinking water  
   supply to reduce tooth decay. Scientific evidence shows that fluoride is   
   effective at reducing tooth decay in both adults and children, and there is no 
   evidence of health harms associated with water fluoridation schemes. Water 
   fluoridation schemes are supported by the Chief Medical Officers for the UK, 
   as well as the World Health Organization.

2.11 Previously, local authorities had the responsibility for proposing and 
   consulting on water fluoridation schemes in their local areas. However, 
   under the new Health and Care Bill, these powers have been transferred to 
   the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. The Secretary of State, 
   rather than local authorities, is now able to establish new water fluoridation 
   schemes or vary or terminate existing schemes in England. The Secretary 
   of State will have to undertake formal public consultation before introducing 
   any new schemes or before varying or terminating an existing water 
   fluoridation scheme.

Two further oral health promotion activities are currently being led by NHS England, 
with support and input from GCC. 

Supervised toothbrushing 

2.12 NHS England are proposing the rollout of a supervised toothbrushing 
programme across all local authorities in the South West. This is planned as a 
targeted programme, aimed at 3-year-old and reception class children in the 
most deprived areas of Gloucestershire. It is hoped that this programme will 
be funded for seven years (five years plus a 2 year extension).

First Dental Steps

2.13 First Dental Steps, a multi-stranded oral health improvement initiative, is to be 
rolled out across the South West. This will be funded by NHS England, 
following a successful pilot of the programme across six areas across the 
South West.

2.14 First Dental Steps is an evidence-based oral health improvement intervention, 
embedded in the Healthy Child Programme that aims to: improve oral health 
for children aged 0-2 years, reduce oral health inequalities and increase 
uptake of local dental services. It is delivered by the health visiting team in 
collaboration with local Community Dental Services. It involves:

 Oral health champion training for the health visiting team to support 
parents with oral health information and advice

 Distributing oral hygiene packs to every baby at the 9-12 month 
mandated check (or reasonable alternative)

Page 42



 Establishing a direct referral pathway from the health visiting team to 
the local Community Dental Service for children deemed to be at high 
risk of decay 

 Embedding mandatory oral health questions into the health visiting 
team’s electronic patient record, to capture relevant data on oral health

2.15 Discussions are currently taking place between NHS England, GCC’s 
PWC Hub and the health visiting team to make plans for the 
introduction of First Dental Steps in Gloucestershire.

3. Outcomes 

3.1.  The committee to note the report and make comment on the activities 
outlined. 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



1

HOSC – Mental Health Update

Angela Potter – Director of Strategy & Partnerships 

Karl Gluck - Head of Integrated Commissioning (Adult Mental Health, Advocacy and 
Autism)

Hayley Payne - Programme Manager – Children and Young 

People’s Mental Health

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 6



Focus on Mental Health

Purpose/Introduction

• To give a general MH Overview plus position in a number of specific service 
updates

• Crisis Care

• Length of Stay and Out of Area Inpatients

• Eating Disorders

• Community Mental Health Transformation including Specialist MH 
Practitioners in Primary Care

• CYP MH – Young Minds Matter

2

P
age 46



General Headlines for Mental Health Services 

• Gloucestershire Health & Care (GHC) are the main providers for Mental Health 

Services – some voluntary and third sector providers also commissioned

• Majority of services now at pre-covid wait times 

• IAPT Recovery rates 51.1% (against threshold of 50% in Oct 22)

• Increased referrals continue in some services eg. Eating Disorders, Crisis, 

Children & Adolescents, Autism – resulting in increased wait times

• Increasingly complex referrals that require more intensive interventions

3

P
age 47



CQC Survey of Mental Health Patients

• Aim to get a better understanding of 

people’s experience of community 

based specialist MH services –

published Oct 22

• Responses grouped into 10 themes 

• GHC in top 5 nationally for 7 

themes 

• 5th for overall views of care and 

services

• Talking therapies and Crisis 

services have worsened and 

Trust will continue to explore this

4

P
age 48



Crisis Teams
• Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Teams (CRHTT) – significant pressure 

to deliver 24/7 - staffing pressures/demand

• Key Performance targets achieved 

• responding to all referrals within 4 hours 

• considering all admissions for Home Treatment – 95% threshold

• CYP crisis outreach operational

• ‘Crisis car/Street Triage’ - Working with Glos Constabulary  - currently 4 

days/week

• Pressure on Maxwell Centre – increase in numbers detained by the police 

• Investment SWASFT service desk - specialist MH staff for triage recruited

• Liaison Psychiatry - exploring extra funding to enhance acute MH 

5

P
age 49



Adult Mental Health – Length of Stay Focus
• Challenges on Acute Mental Health bed availability and discharge

• Out of Area use = slower patient flow & poorer patient outcomes 

Benchmark data – March 2021 – GHC not an obvious outlier

• Beds per 100k population = 17.2    National Average 18.2 

• Admission per 100k population = 132    National Average 188 

• Current LOS = 50.2 days vs Out of Area patients = 99.9 days

Proposals to Improve Flow

• Discharge Coordinators - focus on social care and Delayed Transfer of Care (DToC) 

• Pilot Daily Board Reviews and roll out to all acute wards

• Weekly DToC meeting to review the discharge plans 

• Review and align Community Mental Health Teams Referral Criteria

6

P
age 50



Eating Disorders

• Demand for services continues to outstrip capacity

• Whole pathway transformation programme

Impact to Date

• 21/22 - Additional resources in GHC and additional voluntary sector capacity

• Adolescents offered BEAT Developing Dolphins pathway 

• TiC+ support families whilst waiting - uptake now increasing

• Exploring additional provider to support adolescents for treatment episodes 

• Internal GHC WL initiatives for assessments

7

P
age 51



Community Mental Health Transformation

• Whole system transformation programme

• Physical health checks for SMI – up to 54% compliance – target 80%

• Complex Emotional Needs – Fully developed for Gloucester and now 

rolling out across County

• Assessment process – replacing Care Programme Approach with 

Dialogue+ - now being piloted in Forest

• Employment – expanding Individual Placement & Support 

• New Locality model – co-production work in Forest ongoing 

• 2023/24 – focus extends to include rehabilitation and housing

8

P
age 52



Specialist Mental Health Practitioners in Primary Care

• Key part of CMHT Transformation - Under the Additional Role 

Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) 

• Model focus on specialist band 7 mental health workers who can 

undertake independent prescribing

• Based within Primary Care Networks

• Currently 12 wte recruited - Target to reach 15 practitioners

• Next phase will be considering skill mix within each PCN

9

P
age 53



Transformation Programmes in CYP

• Referrals continue to rise and waiting times are challenging 

• Increasing number of complex children needing care as inpatients –

accessing beds challenging at regional/national level

• CYPS Referral to assessment within 4 weeks - September at 91.6% 

against a 95% threshold

• TiC+ trialling ‘one at a time intervention’ - positive feedback

• Access to CAMHS Practitioner Advice Line for all colleagues 

• Young Minds Matter – in 113 schools (2,000 YP/year access) – growing in 

23/24

10

P
age 54



11

Any Questions?

11

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report Title Integrated Performance Report (IPR) November 2022

Purpose of Report This is the Integrated Performance Report (IPR) for NHS Gloucestershire ICB for September 2022. The report brings information

together on:

• Performance

• Quality

• Workforce

A narrative update for each key theme is provided, alongside a full update of performance metrics covering the programmes and pillars

associated with our services, their quality, and our workforce. The report will continue to be developed over time – including expanding

the metrics that are reviewed to give greater assurance across all programme delivery areas.

Information or decision? This report is for information.

Authors

Sponsoring Director

Kat Doherty (Performance)

Clare Hines (Workforce)

Rob Mauler (Quality)

Mark Golledge (PMO)

Mark Walkingshaw

Tracey Cox

Marion Andrews Evans

Senior Performance Management Lead

Workforce and OD Project Lead

Senior Manager – Quality and Commissioning

Associate Director – ICS Development

Director of Operational Planning & Performance – NHS Gloucestershire ICB

Interim Director – People, Culture & Engagement – NHS Gloucestershire ICB

Executive Chief Nurse – NHS Gloucestershire ICB

Key Issues:

• Areas of key exceptions have been included at the front of the Integrated Performance Report.

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 7



Integrated Performance Report

November 2022

P
age 58



Im
p

ro
v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s Key Achievements

• Diagnostic capacity will have a significant boost 

from the community diagnostic hub – funding is 

confirmed and will roll out in 2023 offering 

additional capacity across a number of 

modalities.

• A series of case reviews across the Urgent and 

Emergency Care (UEC) system has been 

carried out working with Newton Europe.

• The recent ‘ReSET’ week saw some 

improvements in UEC performance, particularly 

ambulance response times and handover 

delays, and rapid analysis is being undertaken to 

embed learning into business as usual to ensure 

that as much improvement as possible is 

sustainable. 

• Primary care appointment availability and patient 

satisfaction continues to benchmark highly 

against other systems, despite challenging 

demand and continued workforce pressure.

Areas of Focus
• Newton Europe supported U&EC diagnostic completed, key 

workstreams identified and sponsors and SROs in process of 

being finalised as focus now moves to implementation phase.

• Weekly review of 6 key winter metrics (NHS111 call abandonment; 

Ambulance call answering time, handover delays and Category 2 

response times; Bed occupancy; and Patients with No Criteria to 

Reside) by system and supporting assurance to NHSE and 

Department of Health and Social Care. 

• Recovering elective performance against 104% weighted cost 

activity target (against 19/20 cost level), while maintaining the 

reduction in long waits for elective treatment.

• Recovery of cancer wait times standards with particular emphasis 

on the reduction of a backlog of patients waiting for treatment 

beyond 62 days.

• Workforce issues (both recruitment and retention) continue to 

impact performance in Gloucestershire as nationally, a successful 

system recruitment event has taken place and will continue to be 

built upon over the coming months.

Our Performance

Please note the full set of measures and progress against the agreed trajectories is available here.

P
age 59

https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/ICB-Report-November-2022-Metrics.pdf


Key Achievements

• System wide review of priorities and work plan for 

remainder of 2022/23 with agreement on 3 priority 

areas: Health and Wellbeing, International Recruitment 

and Agency spend.

• Continued on-boarding of Health & Care Support 

Workers from 28th September system recruitment 

event 

• Nursing legacy mentoring funding (£160K) secured and 

Task and Finish Group being mobilised to progress 

system approach.

• GHFT and GHC: successful bids for expansion of 

international recruitment pipelines.

Areas of Focus

• Preparations for industrial action following confirmation 

of strike action by nurses and potential for other staff 

groups

• Health and wellbeing - System wide mapping of 

services and offers available to staff across 

Gloucestershire

• Recruitment to People Function delivery structure and 

securing interim support from SCWCSU to support 

priority areas

• Cost of Living and impact on staff identifying potential 

areas of support.

Our People
O

u
r 

P
e

o
p

le
 (

W
o

rk
fo

rc
e

)

P
age 60



Key Achievements

• One GP practice remains rated ‘Requires Improvement’ 

by the CQC. Primary Care colleagues continue 

to support the practice and have undertaken a Quality 

Review.

• A recent improvement in ambulance handovers has 

been observed since the ‘Boarding and Pre-empting’ 

initiatives were introduced on 6th Oct. This process 

shares clinical risk more effectively between SWAST 

and GHNHSFT. 

• The effect of this work has meant fewer ambulances 

queuing and has improved SWAST’s ability to respond 

to patients at higher risk.

• ED Friends and Family scores have improved. 

• The first System Effectiveness Group met on 7th

November.

• No new Never Events have been reported.

Areas of Focus

• GHNHSFT’s ‘Well Led’ inspection has been published. 

The report found that the Trust needed to improve 

organisational culture. The recommendation was 

accepted and is being used to inspire leaders to 

improve. Similar themes were reported through 

GHNHSFT’s staff survey results. 

• Three important surveys have recently been published: 

• CQC Patient Survey, 

• National Inpatient, and

• Community Mental Health. 

• These are being reviewed across the ICB and a 

summary will be reported in the next ICB Quality 

Report.

• There is a direct link between good staff and patient 

experience and the Quality of care being received by 

patients. 

• This will be a focus for the ICB quality committee and 

system group.

Quality
Q

u
a

li
ty

 –
S

a
fe

ty
, 
E

x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 E

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

n
e

s
s

Please note: The Quality report is updated bimonthly.

P
age 61



Our Themes

Our People

(People Committee)

Quality and Safety

(Quality Committee)

Improving Services 

& Delivering 

Outcomes

(Our Performance)

(System Resources Committee)

P
age 62



Urgent & Emergency Care
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s • ED type 1 performance in October 2022 was 60.5% against the 4 hour target. This has improved slightly compared to the national 

average for Type 1 ED performance (latest benchmark October 2022 at 54.8%). Whole system performance including Type 3 (MIIU) 

attendances was 74.2% (against a national benchmark of 69.3% for October). 

• The system remains under significant pressure with continued focus on reducing the number of patients not meeting the ‘criteria to 

reside’ in a hospital bed, to reduce ambulance handovers delays, improve ambulance category 2 performance, reduce ED congestion,

and reduce numbers of patients with a long length of stay (LLOS), all of which feature in the Winter Plan which has been submitted to 

NHSE for assurance.

• The reported number of patients who do not meet the ‘criteria to reside’ in a hospital bed is still high despite some improvement seen 

(c.217 during the first week of November, compared with an average of 230 in September for GHFT) with a targeted system wide plan in 

place to gradually reduce this.

• System ReSET week has taken place with strong engagement from the whole system. The ReSET week aimed to address back door 

flow and discharge, as well as promoting ED redirection and attendance/admission avoidance.

• Ambulance handover delays have improved in October, with a daily average of 77.4 hours lost (trajectory was 82). Latest performance 

shows this position is being maintained into November, with daily average for November to date at 55 hours lost/ day (November 

trajectory is 82 hours/ day).

• Continued scrutiny of programme delivery and performance is taking place through the UEC Clinical Programme Group as well as the

Winter Assurance Framework. 6 key metrics have been identified to assess system performance over winter (see UEC winter monitoring 

summary in the link to the specific measures here). 

• Newton Europe have conducted a series of system workshops and case reviews which will help to identify root causes for systemic 

issues and prioritise our local response.

P
age 63

https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/ICB-Report-November-2022-Metrics.pdf


Planned Care
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

• The waiting list for elective care in Gloucestershire is currently running at 65,537 with the majority (56,019) waiting at GHFT. Despite the 

majority of the county’s elective activity occurring at GHFT, the patients waiting the longest for treatment are mostly waiting at out of 

county providers – there were 7 +104 week waits (0 GHFT), 106 +78 week waits (39 at GHFT) and 1446 +52 week waits (852 at GHFT) 

in September 2022. 72.6% of the RTT waiting list had been waiting less than 18 weeks in (against a target of 92%).  

• Recovery of weighted cost activity for the Elective Recovery Fund target of 104% is currently slightly under-performing (97.1% -

September 2022 position). YTD performance has seen good recovery in outpatient activity (particularly at GHFT) but below target activity 

in elective inpatient procedures, particularly day cases which have been impacted by capacity reductions while essential building work 

takes place. OOC NHS providers currently are showing the lowest activity recovery across the board. Independent sector provider 

contribution to system elective recovery plan and ESRF achievement is well above plan.

• To support elective recovery, £3m of ESRF investment has been made in a range of elective specialties to boost capacity – in particular 

additional weekend and evening lists have been carried out in September and October.

• KPI Health has commenced providing three additional clinics a week to help clear long wait backlogs in Haematology, with a reduction in 

the number of patients waiting over 78 weeks at GHFT in this specialty in September.

• GHFT is concentrating on increasing bookings and utilisation of community theatres. Eight additional theatre lists per week are now 

established at community hospital sites and additional equipment from TIF funds is now in place at Tewkesbury Hospital which enables 

ENT day surgery to be undertaken there.

• New patient choice guidance to manage patients choosing to delay treatment has been issued by NHSE outlining how Providers may 

prioritise patients who are available to receive their care with some patients actively monitored rather than remaining on the RTT waiting 

list.

P
age 64



Cancer
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

• Access targets to cancer treatment have been under pressure throughout 22/23 to date with performance missed against both the 2 

week wait (for first appointment or test) and 62 day treatment (treatment to commence within 62 days of referral) in September 2022 

(2ww – 88.1% against 93% target; 62 day – 64.5% against 85% target). There were 68 breaches of the 62 day treatment target in 

September. Lower GI and Urology accounted for 50% of these, with the remainder spread across a number of specialties.

• Long waits (over 104 day waits for treatment) have been higher than previous years so far in 2022/23, with August seeing 26 patients 

treated after 104 days and September seeing 20. 7 of these were in Urology, as the backlog of patients in this specialty continue to be 

treated. There are very few patients across any specialty waiting over 62 days with a decision to treat – reflecting the complex diagnostic 

pathways that often contribute to longer waits for cancer treatment – less than 1% of the cancer PTL consists of patients who have a 

treatment confirmed and have waited more than 62 days.

• An updated trajectory for the treatment of the cancer 62 day patient backlog has been submitted to NHSE following the increase in 

patients waiting more than 62 days for treatment in Gloucestershire. This performance deterioration is in common with the majority of the 

South West, however. The trajectory aims to meet the planned position as submitted for the 2022/23 plan of 154 patients waiting more 

than 62 days by March 2023. Latest performance is 252 patients as off 30th October 2022 (with a proposed target of 250 in November 

2022).

• Work exploring early diagnosis and opportunities to narrow gaps associated with deprivation (in particular the Core20 population) is 

underway with work initially focussing on access to cancer services. Findings and future developments will be actioned through the CPG 

with reporting made available to the SRG and ICB board as appropriate.

P
age 65



Primary Care
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s • Latest primary care activity data shows Gloucestershire meeting its planned commitments for primary care appointments (August activity 

at 339,378 appointments vs a planned level of 295,181). YTD activity is running at 4.3% above plan.

• Primary care metrics assessed in the System Oversight Framework are all performing well with rates of appointments, rates of GPs

workforce, rates of direct patient care staff, and experience of making a GP appointment all benchmarking in the top quartile compared to 

other ICBs across England. Gloucestershire ICB is ranked 1/42 systems for both rate of GP appointments carried out (in July 2022) and 

for experience of making a GP appointment.

• The Autumn Booster for COVID vaccination commenced from September, with inclusion of flu vaccination from October, enabling may 

people to opt to have a flu and COVID booster vaccination at the same time. All PCNs have agreed to provide the vaccinations through 

the local vaccination centres and pop-up clinics in some surgeries. Community Outreach clinics will also be provided to ensure maximum 

possible coverage. For the winter period 2021/22 Gloucestershire achieved the highest vaccination rate across the country for flu 

vaccination coverage, and the system is planning for similar performance for 2022/23. 

Community Care & Ageing Well
• Dementia diagnosis rates have dipped slightly in September 2022 to 62.1% (from 62.3% in August, against a target of 66.7% of the

estimated dementia population receiving a formal diagnosis). This is the first time performance has moved against the national trend –

with national performance improving to 62.2% in September.

• 2 hour urgent responses are now being reported through the community services data set, latest figures (October 2022) show that 

contacts rose to 273, with an 80% compliance to target (against a 75% threshold).

P
age 66



Im
p

ro
v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

• Funding for Community Diagnostic Hubs has now been confirmed – with the new hub in Gloucester city due to be fully operational by 

October 2023. Additional capacity across Non-obstetric ultrasound, CT, plain film x-ray and MRI is already operational, with additional 

Echocardiography due to come on line throughout 2023.

• Diagnostic test activity remains stable in September 2022 – with 17,453 tests carried out across the 15 key modalities. This is equivalent 

to 105% of the September activity in 2019. The waiting list had been growing throughout 2021/22, but has now stabilised, and stands at 

12,054 in September 2022.

• Waiting times for patients deteriorated slightly in September, possibly as a result of availability and patient choice during the summer 

months, particularly August.  In September, 21.9% of the waiting list have been waiting more than 6 weeks. At GHFT all test waiting lists 

except for endoscopy, echocardiography, and urodynamics (where only 1 patient was waiting more than 6 weeks) met the 1% target (for 

less than 1% of the waiting list to be waiting more than 6 weeks at the time of the snapshot).

• Additional echo insourcing capacity has been established with an independent provider (Agile) to provide an additional 400 echos a 

month. This is now operational, and activity has increased with more than 1600 echos carried out in September 2022. This is equivalent 

to 123% of September 2019 activity.

Diagnostics

P
age 67



Im
p

ro
v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

• Out of Area Placements remain above planned levels with 586 days declared in 22/23 YTD (April-September). The total for the full 

2022/23 year plan is 800 over the course of the year, meaning the target at the end of September is 400. While the national ambition for 

this target is 0, this is extremely challenging to balance the needs of a patient for urgent treatment, with system flow and bed availability. 

Work in ongoing to minimise discharge delays which affect the ability of mental health services to place patients locally – with

improvements seen in September (28 days declared).

• Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) access has been below the planned levels throughout 2022/23 – referral 

volume has been below the level needed to meet this target. During August, a targeted marketing campaign has been carried out

including magazine and football ticket advertising, and an attendance at a Mindfulness event at Gloucestershire Cathedral. August 

access rates had risen, but September has seen a drop off in referrals and an increase in people dropping out of the service (22% 

against a planned 15% level).

• Perinatal mental health service access has improved, with 45 referrals seen across the urgent and routine pathways in September. 

This is just above the volume required to meet the 12 month rolling target of 532 service users accessing the service (Q2 target

2022/23), however only 53% of referrals were seen within 2 weeks (target waiting time). All referrals were seen by 5 weeks, however 

workforce issues have limited the ability of the service to deliver the waiting time target (50% seen within 2 weeks) with a number of 

vacancies across the service. 11 posts have been successfully recruited to and are due to commence in the coming months.

• Eating disorders – CYP and Adult. Demand for the service has been increasing through the pandemic and into 2022/23, particularly for 

Children and young people and in common with other CYP services, which are seeing much higher demand as a result of the detrimental 

effect of lockdowns and school closures. All waiting times targets for routine and urgent CYP and Adult referral to treatment were missed 

in August. Additional investment in to the eating disorders service has been made as well as a review of the team skill mix to increase 

success in filling posts. The service is working with BEAT and TiC+ to provide waiting list support, and is prioritising urgent adolescent 

assessments. BEAT is working with GHC to establish the ‘developing dolphins’ program – offering interim treatment following a first 

contact/ treatment, to avoid prolonged ‘hidden’ waits between first and second treatments.

Adult and Children's Mental Health

P
age 68



Im
p

ro
v
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 &

 D
e

li
v
e

ri
n

g
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

• Following the section 29A notice served to GHFT maternity services an action plan addressing all concerns from the CQC report has 

been developed. An insight visit from the local team focussing on safety and quality has been carried out.

• Maternal and neonatal outcomes for the service remain above target, with low rates of stillbirth, brain injury, and maternal injury across 

2021/22 and into 2022/23. 

• The Continuity of Carer model is currently delivered to 9.1% of women in Gloucestershire receiving maternity. For women from the most 

deprived decile, performance is 40% in the first quarter of 2022/23 showing the impact of the targeting of the team roll out to areas with 

higher rates of deprivation. Staffing challenges are impacting upon the ability to be able to deliver continuity of carer commitments fully in 

Gloucestershire according to the operational plan. Nationally, the full implementation of the Continuity of Carer target has been paused 

due to recognition that staffing levels across the majority of trusts do not support safe provision of this model. Gloucestershire is currently 

reviewing its commitments and will revise the roll out accordingly – with focus continuing to be on more deprived communities in the 

county.

Maternity and Neonatal

P
age 69



Our Themes

Our People

(People Committee)

Quality and Safety

(Quality Committee)

Improving Services 

& Delivering 

Outcomes

(Our Priorities)

(System Resources Committee)P
age 70



Our People
Our local work plan continues to be based around the key pillars within the national People Plan

Growing for the Future

• International recruitment - Scoping potential to deliver
at least one international recruitment initiative which is
shared across multiple system partners.

• GHFT: Introduction of the Collaborative Learning in 
Practice coaching model for student placements, 
replacing the traditional 1:1 approach

• Proposal for System wide Communication Recruitment 
Campaign agreed at WSG 09/11/22O

u
r 

P
e

o
p

le
 (

W
o

rk
fo

rc
e

)

Looking After Our People

• Health & Wellbeing – Review of existing arrangements 
and offers of health & wellbeing support across the ICS 
with plan to develop a future blueprint and vision as 
part of an overall health and wellbeing strategy. 

• Cohort 10 of the system wide leadership programme 
underway. Evaluation for the program remains high. 
Capacity and resource for future cohorts will need to be 
identified.

Please note the full set of measures and progress against the agreed trajectories is available here.

P
age 71

https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/ICB-Report-November-2022-Metrics.pdf


Our People
Our local work plan continues to be based around the key pillars within the national People Plan

Belonging in the NHS

• System wide Reciprocal mentoring programme
launched at the end of October - (GHC reciprocal
mentoring scheme has been in place since 2019,now
expanded and launched as an ICS wide scheme)

• Completion of system wide development programme
for Staff Network Chairs with group identifying a set of
recommendations for all partners to adopt as part of a
consistent and supportive approach

• GHFT Implementation of the National Preceptorship
Framework offering tools for benchmarking and aiming
for Gold accreditation. GHC has a university accredited
and well planned preceptorship programme, with
delivery fully mapped to the National Framework which
is key to our People Strategy. Gold is our next aim.

• System Collaborative approach to Racism and the
Pandemic learning in partnership with RCN

O
u

r 
P

e
o

p
le

 (
W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
)

New Ways of Working

• Small cohort of reservists identified and currently no 
additional support required from reservists within the 
vaccination teams. On-boarding of reservists 
experiencing slight delay due to capacity to process 
candidates in addition to HCSW candidates.

• Apprenticeship schemes for AHP - currently underway 
GHFT Radiographers and both GHFT & GHC for 
Physiotherapists

Please note the full set of measures and progress against the agreed trajectories is available here.

P
age 72

https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/ICB-Report-November-2022-Metrics.pdf


Our Themes

Our People

(People Committee)

Quality 

(Safety, Experience 

and Effectiveness)

(Quality Committee)

Improving Services 

& Delivering 

Outcomes

(Our Priorities)

(System Resources Committee)P
age 73



18

Quality - Assurance
Q

u
a

li
ty

 –
S

a
fe

ty
, 
E

x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 E

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

n
e

s
s

Please note: The Quality report is updated bimonthly.

GHNHSFT

• The Trusts' CQC Well Led report has been published. At the time of inspection it was noted the executive team were new. There were

issues with Culture throughout the inspection and a disconnect from ‘Ward to Board’. It was noted that leaders did not always apply the

Trust values.

• Poor staff survey results and concerns for those from a BAME regarding bullying and not having the same access to opportunities for

career advancements. Staff who did not feel proud to work for the organisation had deteriorated. Not all levels of governance and

management functioned effectively and interacted with each other.

• GHT are formulating an action plan that is due to go to the CQC on 11th November

• The trust continues to make good progress regarding the Surgical section 29A action plan.

GHCNHSFT

• The Trust continues to make good progress with the actions arising from a number of recent CQC inspections. All "Must Do" actions are

on target for completion by 30th November. The 11 "Must Do" actions identified relate to activity at Wotton Lawn Hospital, Charlton Lane

Hospital and MIIU.

• Positive progress has been made with the reduction in Healthcare Support Worker (HCSW) vacancies. Currently <100 HCSW vacancies

exist within the Trust with the hope that this will further reduce following the successful ICB HCSW recruitment event held last month.

• Challenges continue to exist in a number of service areas including the Eating Disorders Service and CAMHS. The Trust has seen

Improvements in the reduction of lower grade pressure ulcers following recent focussed work and good performance within wheelchair

services.

P
age 74



19

Quality - Assurance
Q

u
a

li
ty

 –
S

a
fe

ty
, 
E

x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 E

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

n
e

s
s

Please note: The Quality report is updated bimonthly.

Urgent & Emergency Care
• Clinical Lead representatives from the UEC CPG attended the CPN Directors meeting in September to give an introduction in to the CPG

and invite questions and discussion to be guided by the GP’s. The response was welcoming, and the team were able to glean some useful

feedback, the themes for concern and development. ED performance reached 58.08% for September, which was an improvement on

previous months with the safety checklist slowly improving too, alongside plans for winter preparedness.

• A recent improvement in ambulance handovers has been observed since the ‘Boarding and Pre-empting’ initiatives were introduced on the

6th Oct, spreading the clinical risk between ED and the wards in order to support patient safety and discharge behaviour.

Primary Care
• On 29th September over 70 nurses attended a Gloucestershire GPN Conference. Paul Vaughan, Deputy Director Primary Care Nursing &

NextGen Nurse NHSEI, opened the conference as the keynote speaker with other speakers on Population Health Management, Wellbeing,

Learning Disabilities, and clinical workshops. The day provided valuable learning for GPN’s, Trainee Nursing Associates, Health Care

Assistants and Students.

• One GP practice remains rated as ‘Requires Improvement’ by the CQC. Primary Care colleagues continue to support the practice and

have undertaken a Quality Review.

Maternity
• The ICB is meeting regularly with GHT and CQC to monitor all actions relating to the section 29A notice; good progress is being made.

Three NHSE national team Maternity Improvement Advisors visited to commence the diagnostic part of the Maternity Safety Support

programme on September 27/ 28th, the report is due in 2-3 weeks.

• Due to staffing issues Aveta Birth Unit remains closed to intrapartum care; clinics and DAU work continues to operate from the freestanding

birth unit during the day. This action will be reviewed in the New Year. Stroud Maternity Unit postnatal beds have been closed since 30th

September and will be reviewed weekly.

P
age 75



20

Quality - Safety
Q

u
a

li
ty

 –
S

a
fe

ty
, 
E

x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 E

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

n
e

s
s

Please note: The Quality report is updated bimonthly.

Incidents declared under the current framework

• Serious Incidents were reported in Acute, Community, Mental Health

and Ambulance settings during September and October. In

comparison to the same period last year, there were six fewer Serious

Incidents.

• One incident declared by GHC NHS FT involved four patients in

community hospitals who became Covid19 positive during their stay.

Sadly three of the four later passed away.

• Three incidents related to maternity/obstetric settings. A maternal

death in the community, a birth in an ambulance and a still birth.

• Maternity Incidents automatically go to HSIB for consideration of

investigation under their investigation processes.

• No new Never Events were reporting in September or October. The

last recorded Never Event was on 13th June 2022.

Patient Safety Incident Response Framework (PSIRF)

• Quality Committee has now received a presentation on PSIRF and the

future landscape of ‘safety’.

• PSIRF needs to be implemented across the ICB by October 2023

• Learn from Patient Safety Events (LFPSE) deadline has been given
and ‘optional’ extension to September 2023.

Serious Incidents include acts or omissions in care that result 

in: unexpected or avoidable death, unexpected or avoidable injury resulting 

in serious harm , including those where the injury required treatment.

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Unexpected / potentially
avoidable death

Unexpected / potentially
avoidable injury causing

serious harm

Incident demonstrating
existing risk

Core Reason for Reporting

Serious Incidents in September and October 2022

P
age 76



21

Quality – Experience: Friends and Family Test results April – August 2022
Q

u
a

li
ty

 –
S

a
fe

ty
, 
E

x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 E

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

n
e

s
s

Please note: The Quality report is updated bimonthly.

The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is a feedback tool that supports the 

fundamental principle that people who use NHS funded services should have 

the opportunity to provide feedback on their experience. Listening to the views of 

patients and staff helps identify what is working well, what can be improved and 

how.

The FFT asks a simple question: how likely, on a scale ranging from extremely 

unlikely to extremely likely, are you to recommend the service to friends and 

family if they needed similar care or treatment. The last five month’s published 

results can be found opposite. Following a suspension during the pandemic FFT

results for Primary Care (GP practices) have been published since July 2022. In 

July 33/70 Gloucestershire GP practices submitted FFT data nationally, in 

August 29/70 submitted data.

National Care Quality Commission (CQC) Patient Surveys

The CQC uses surveys to find out what people think of the NHS healthcare 

services that they use. The results help assess NHS performance. The CQC 

also use them for regulatory activities such as registration, monitoring ongoing 

compliance and reviews.

Community mental health survey 2022 (published October 2022)

This survey looks at the experiences of people who use community mental 

health services. Those aged 18 and over were eligible to take part if they were 

receiving specialist care or treatment for a mental health condition between 1 

September 2021 and 30 November 2021.

The results of these national surveys are currently being discussed at respective 

Trust Quality Committees; the output of these discussions will be shared in a 

future ICB Integrated Performance Report.

National Adult inpatient survey 2021 (published Sept 2022)

This survey looks at the experiences of people who stayed at 

least one night in hospital as an inpatient. People were eligible 

to take part in the survey if they stayed in hospital for at least 

one night during November 2021 and were aged 16 years or 

over at the time of their stay.

P
age 77

https://www.england.nhs.uk/fft/


22

Quality - Effectiveness
Q

u
a

li
ty

 –
S

a
fe

ty
, 
E

x
p

e
ri

e
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 E

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

n
e

s
s

Please note: The Quality report is updated bimonthly.

The System Effectiveness Group (SEG) was held on 7th November 2022. This was the 1st meeting of the System Effectiveness group. There 

was good representation from GHT, who presented a report on their internal clinical effectiveness, which was well received. We are confirming 

attendance from GHC and also recognise the need to have Primary care attendance in order to look at effectiveness across the system. 

We have a meeting planned with Clinical programmes in order to look at how we work together going forward to improve the outcomes for the 

people of Gloucestershire. 

Over the next year this group will focus on:

• Understanding the standards we measure ourselves against

• Measure current provision against standards

• Describing variance

• Discussing and reporting why there are variants

• Working towards closing variance

• Challenging system partners to measure the benefit of our work to demonstrate the value 

• Achieving the best patient outcomes 

In our Quality Strategy we set out our vision for Effectiveness:

We believe the effectiveness of how individual services run, the way they work together and their impact on quality, should be the main 

objective of local systems.

 One Gloucestershire aims to do the right thing, at the right time, for the right patient

 We will continue to develop a culture where clinical effectiveness underpins the decisions we make

 Patients know the pathway they’re on is the most effective it can be to achieve the best outcome

 We will utilise evidence, guidelines and standards to identify and implement best practice, working with CPGs on pathway development

 Ensuring our population can access care which is personalised so that ‘what matters to me’ drives decision making

P
age 78



  

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

6 December 2022 

NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board 

Update 

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



  

2 
 

NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) Update   
 

 

 

 

Report contents 
 

This is the second report of NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board (ICB) since 

establishment on 1 July 2022.  

 

Section 1 provides a general NHS Gloucestershire commissioner update, incorporating 

national consultations.  

 

Section 2 provides a commissioner update focussing on primary medical care. 

 

Section 3 provides Trusts’ updates from: Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 

Foundation Trust (GHC) and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHT) 

and South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWAST) 

 

 

1.  Section 1: Local NHS Commissioner Update, NHS 

Gloucestershire ICB 

 
These are items are for information and noting. Detailed information can be found on 

the ICB website at: https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/category/board-meetings/  

 

1.1 FOCUS on Health and Housing 

Gloucestershire has a defined structure for bringing together housing, health and 

care services. Senior officers from the six District Councils, Public Health, NHS 

Gloucestershire, Gloucestershire Health & Care Foundation Trust, Adult Social Care 

commissioning and social housing providers are all represented on the 

Gloucestershire Strategic Housing Partnership (SHP). Other associated parties are 

co-opted in as required. Supporting the SHP are a range of operational delivery 

groups: the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Forum, the Housing, Health, and Care in 

Partnership (HHCiP) and a Disability Housing Group. These interlinking groups 

continue to evolve and develop as they learn from cross sector integration and 

collaboration. The SHP and delivery groups contribute to the priorities of 

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board and the ICB core purposes. 

Page 80

https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/category/board-meetings/


  

3 
 

SHP Investment and schemes 

The SHP continues to benefit from the pooled capital funds that facilitate large scale 

adaptations and funds the minor adaptations contract. The partnership has 

committed to increasing flexibility, and this is reflected in positive outcomes achieved 

in 2021/2022 and delivery plans and priorities for 2022/2023. The following are 

initiatives that have been put in place through the SHP: 

 Agreement for the countywide DFG Forum to sign off adaptations up to £70k 

with flexibilities regarding client contribution, thus reducing delays in the 

process for some of the most complex DFG requests. 

 A DFG dashboard of information has been collated to provide reporting on 

activity and support ambitions to widen access and roll out good practice. A 

successful example involves meeting a gap in provision for the servicing and 

maintenance of stair lifts, a burden that previously fell to the recipient of the 

lift. 

 Recruitment of a Specialist Housing Occupational Therapist to support with 

DFG streamlining and efficiencies and further develop effective interface and 

working practices between districts councils, local housing providers/landlords 

and Occupational therapists (OTs) to increase awareness of inclusive design 

required in adaptations, the design of new housing development and 

developing an adaptable housing register with local social housing landlords. 

 Capital funding of larger scale works to enhance access for older people and 

those living with disability in community settings, including a shelter and 

Changing Place at Blackbridge Athletics in Gloucester. A Changing Place 

facility planned for Cheltenham and a similar scheme is being undertaken at 

Belmont School, enabling the local and wider community to access the 

excellent facilities. 

 Specific project working with Foundations to increase access to DFGs in 

BAME communities. 

Additionally there has been investment in: 

 The specialist Emergency Department nurse continues to work with 

colleagues in the acute sector to improve outcomes for homeless people 

attending the Emergency Departments. This has been described as an 

example of best practice and the nurse is now a member of the NICE panel 

devising the ‘integrated health and social care for people experiencing 

homelessness’ guidelines. 

 The housing roles funded by the partnership have proved very successful. 

These roles support individuals and their families to have the right information 

to make choices that can prevent and/or reduce their chance of experiencing 

a crisis at home and the unintentional adverse outcomes associated. The 

roles are predicated on admission avoidance but also support people on 

Page 81



  

4 
 

discharge from hospital and have reduced the need for residential 

placements. 

 Project management of the development of NHS England grant funded 

developments, providing bespoke housing for people with a disability, 

including the HOLD scheme. 

 Set up and management of two hospital step down flats. The Lead Housing 

Officer supports ASC colleagues to make best use of two housing association 

flats secured and funded to support hospital discharge in Gloucester City for 

people unable to return home due to housing related issues. The Lead 

housing officers works to resolve any housing related issues to ensure that 

people can return home within 12 weeks. 

 Falls prevention – further developing the Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue 

Telecare Responder Service to include a ‘falls pick up’ service. Capital 

funding has been agreed by the SHP to fund safe lifting equipment to be used 

in the telecare responder service and in the seven commissioned Extra Care 

housing schemes in the county. The impact of falls, the need to reduce 

associated long waits and hospital admissions is a key focus for the ICB. 

 Population health data continues to be influential in setting strategic plans 

across localities. The ICB contributed to the housing stock condition 

assessment in Gloucestershire which will enhance the available data set, 

enabling more opportunities to target those most likely to benefit from 

preventative health and social care interventions through the home. 

 The Housing with Care Strategy and District Profiles have provided a platform 

for further work to improve uses of Extra Care Housing to reduce pressure on 

health and social care. Sharing of data has benefitted all parties and 

increasingly upholds the value of working across sectors, sharing experience 

and ideas. 

 Work with system partners regarding the disposal of land to ensure that there 

is a weighting around Social Value specific to meeting the housing needs of 

older and disabled people included in development tenders, resulting in more 

sustainable housing models to meet the needs of vulnerable people. 

 Provide collective response to the six planning authorities from Adult Social 

Care and Health regarding new developments of housing with care, to support 

provision of high quality and sufficient quantity of housing required to meet the 

housing needs of older and disabled people. 

 Warm and Well is a longstanding partnership between the six district councils 

in Gloucestershire, South Gloucestershire council, Gloucestershire County 

Council and NHS Gloucestershire. The aim of Warm and Well is to improve 

Page 82



  

5 
 

energy efficiency in the home and reduce the risk of fuel poverty and 

associated health problems through raising public awareness of energy 

efficiency and fuel poverty, providing advice and guidance and undertaking 

home visits to vulnerable customers that include an energy survey and 

bespoke advice report. The service makes referrals to grant and discount 

schemes for the fitting of energy saving equipment such as insulation or a 

new boiler/heating system. 

 The main Warm and Well projects are augmented by specific schemes where 

targeted funding is applied for. Through working in partnership, it has been 

possible to successfully bid for several substantial grants to support fuel 

poverty work across the county. The latest Warm and Well report shows that 

over 2021-22, for every £1 of Warm and Well funding, £11.43 more in capital 

investment is brought into the region. 

 Park Homes Project expanded following the award of two grants in the region 

of £1m from the Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery 1A and 1B 

schemes meaning an additional 200 park homes will be improved across the 

county. This also funds provision of alternative sources of energy, air source 

heat pumps, for homes in rural areas without access to gas. As well as 

keeping Park Homes warm the insulation also supports reducing the impact of 

excessive heat. Older people are less likely to take action to reduce their 

temperature in hot weather and multiple medications can also lead to adverse 

outcomes. 

 Warmth on Prescription Pilot, the trial reported successful outcomes and 

future roll out of fuel vouchers to those in both clinical and financial need via 

the Department of Work and Pensions Housing Support Fund, held at 

Gloucestershire County Council and available until March 2023. This Pilot 

was reported in the national news media at the end of November 2022, further 

detail is provided below. 

 The Fuel Poverty Co-ordinator working across Citizens Advice Bureau has 

been expanded into the local oncology department due to further work 

highlighting the fuel poverty issues experienced by people undergoing cancer 

treatment. 

Supporting hospital discharge and system flow 

Over time the housing team has increasingly focused supporting hospital discharge 

and system flow. Currently, the Housing Frailty Officer is working closely with frailty 

and discharge teams to use her extensive housing experience to support people to 

remain at home, move to more suitable accommodation and to return home after a 

hospital stay. 

The Housing Officer is receiving an average of 40 referrals per month and provides 

advice and guidance, offering practical hands-on support to troubleshoot issues and 

Page 83



  

6 
 

act as a link to the Districts and registered housing providers. The SHP has created 

a small fund for use by the Housing Officer to facilitate rapid support for people who 

need a relatively minor intervention that will prevent them being discharged earlier. 

One example is lack of suitable flooring, that in one case was preventing the 

provision of safe equipment and, with no obvious or available solutions, the fund was 

used to shorten an otherwise protracted hospital stay. There are a range of partners 

supporting hospital discharge, to include the third sector with links to the fuel poverty 

programmes via the Warm Homes Fund. During the summer period two flats have 

been made available through Gloucester City Homes for use by people with 

significant housing issues preventing them returning home from hospital. 

Within the acute sector, the appointment of the specialist homelessness nurse role 

through the SHP has demonstrated he improved pathways and outcomes for 

homeless people attending A&E. The subsequent reductions in length of stay and 

frequent attendance has resulted in this initiative reaching the finals of the Health 

Service Journal Patient Safety Awards to be held later this month. 

Building a Strong Partnership Foundation 

There is a strong foundation in place for the partnership to build on and, as we move 

forward as an ICB, there will be greater priority given to co-production, working more 

closely with the people of Gloucestershire, now the safety measures of the pandemic 

are eased. The partnership continued to thrive and adapt during the pandemic, 

learning together and gaining greater understanding of each other’s challenges. This 

learning and the successes the partnership has achieved mean it is well placed to 

continue to contribute to better health and care outcomes. 

The coming year will bring challenges for many people and the potential impact of 

the rise in cost of living has prompted SHP to re-focus on key areas where 

integration can mitigate negative outcomes, such as in the prevention of 

homelessness and in tackling fuel poverty and the impact of climate change.  

 

Warm home scheme supports vulnerable people to pay their energy bills 

Up to 150 people across the county with cold-sensitive health conditions who 

struggle with the costs of heating their home will have their energy bills paid between 

November 2022 and March 2023. The initiative is being funded through innovative 

use of the Government’s Housing Support fund, together with support from 

sustainability charity Severn Wye and non-profit innovation hub Energy Systems 

Catapult. 

 

The Warm Home Prescription is a pioneering new way to target support at the most 

vulnerable people who are affected by the rise in the cost-of-living, helping to keep 

them well at home. To be eligible people must be diagnosed with chronic lung 

conditions such as emphysema, chronic bronchitis and bronchiectasis. They also 

must be either under 60 and in receipt of free NHS prescriptions, or over 60 and 

struggling to pay their heating bill. 

Page 84



  

7 
 

Health and care teams, including GPs and local social prescribers, are working 

together to identify eligible patients and prescribe them a warm home, with charity 

Severn Wye following up the referral to credit peoples’ energy accounts and 

arranging home energy upgrades where possible. 

 

The service will prescribe a heating plan to keep homes at temperatures 

recommended by public health guidance, support people with further energy 

efficiency information and signpost to other services that could help. 

The team behind the service estimate that it could pay for itself by keeping patients 

out of hospital, thereby reducing pressure on busy health and care staff and saving 

significant sums in avoided care costs. 

 

During a local trial of the scheme last winter in Gloucestershire, thought to be the 

first scheme of its kind in the UK, people in receipt of support said they felt warmer 

and healthier, less stressed about bills and less likely to visit their GP or hospital. 

Health workers said it was a quick to prescribe, practical solution which had an 

immediate positive impact. 

 

 1.2 Integrated Care Strategy and NHS Planning Returns (operational plans) 

Integrated Care Systems are required to produce an Integrated Care Strategy, a joint 

forward plan (Health 5-year plan) and NHS Planning Returns (operational plans) in 

2022/23. 

 

The Strategy will describe how we will meet the assessed health, care, and 

wellbeing needs of the Gloucestershire population. The Joint Forward Plan (JFP) is a 

5-year plan describing the local NHS contribution to delivery of the Integrated Care 

Strategy and universal NHS commitments. There is an interdependency between the 

ICP Strategy and the JFP, resulting in a short timeframe for the delivery of an interim 

ICP strategy (December 2022). Department of Health and Social Care guidance on 

the development of the Strategy suggests an approach that builds on 

the considerable work on integration which has already taken place. 

 

Content: This interim Strategy will outline the vision for the next 5 years and the 

work across the system that is moving Gloucestershire towards this vision, 

structured under three overarching pillars. It will be a relatively contained document 

that recognises and builds upon work already in place by signposting to existing 

strategies throughout. If gaps in existing strategies are identified, it will commit to 

tackling these in a meaningful way in future iterations of the Integrated Care 

Strategy. 

 

Evidence Base: The Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) is the underpinning 

evidence base for this Strategy. This interim Strategy will bring together existing data 

including the current JSNA, local knowledge, national data and emerging themes as 

Page 85



  

8 
 

it’s evidence base. A refresh of the JSNA is underway with publication expected 

within 2023/2024, it is anticipated that this Strategy will be refreshed by March 2024.  

 

Engagement: Whilst there is a limited timeframe for the production of this interim 

Strategy, engagement of partners is a core principle. Many existing strategies that 

will inform the ICP strategy have been co-created; co-creation will remain the 

ambition for future iterations of the Strategy. The intention is to build on the feedback 

received during the ICS Engagement undertaken earlier this year (January-March 

2022) on developing our ICS priorities. Further engagement on the draft Strategy 

has taken place throughout October and November ahead of the publication of the 

Strategy in December 2022. Further details can be found at 

https://getinvolved.glos.nhs.uk/ics-gloucestershire 

  

1.3 VCSE (Voluntary, Community Social Enterprise and Faith) Sector 

partnership working 

Working with the VCSE is essential to achieving our core ICS goals, and we are 

fortunate to have a large and growing portfolio of partnership activity with the VCSE. 

The sector itself is extremely diverse, so it is worth noting that this partnership spans 

a continuum ranging from targeted activities with individuals, through to influence 

and decision-making at system level. The service user story at the September 

Integrated Care Board Board meeting was one of countless examples of how 

collaboration with innovative voluntary sector organisations like the MusicWorks can 

bring about profound change in people’s mental and physical wellbeing. We also 

collaborate with the VCSE to support community capacity-building activities. For 

example, in our health behaviours portfolio we focus on the empowering ‘ripple 

effect’ of social movement to grow access to and enjoyment of health and wellbeing 

activities. By working with our partners Active Gloucestershire – hosts of the physical 

activity programme we can move – and a consortium of Creative Health partners co-

ordinated by Artlift, Gloucestershire has become a national exemplar for offering 

personalised and community-powered programmes. The ICB is currently building 

links with the Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership so that this encompasses 

accessibility of green spaces and active environments. 

At a strategic level the ICB has built on strong foundations to develop the 

mechanisms for VCSE participation and influence as shapers and decision-makers 

in the ICS. The Enabling Active Communities and Individuals board is a unique and 

valued space for collaboration and relationship-building. Over 40% of its membership 

is drawn from the VCSE, who in turn represent the extensive capabilities of the 

VCSE from service delivery to advocacy, grassroots community organising, 

infrastructure support and funders. Other members include ICS partners from health, 

public health, district councils, police and fire. Achievements so far this year include 

work with the Gloucestershire Voluntary Sector Alliance to co-create a Memorandum 

of Understanding setting out the nature of partnership between the ICS and the 

Page 86

https://getinvolved.glos.nhs.uk/ics-gloucestershire


  

9 
 

VCSE. Also established is a new countywide Volunteering Collaborative, which has 

redesigned and launched a new online volunteering hub, Go Volunteer Glos (GVG). 

The Collaborative is hosted by Gloucestershire Rural Community Building Collective, 

and GVG is managed and run by the Gloucestershire VCS Alliance. Having a locally 

designed and hosted volunteering portal is already having an impact on ability to 

attract volunteers, and on people’s ability to volunteer their time, passion and energy 

which will stand Gloucestershire in good stead not only for the challenges of this 

winter, but for years to come. 

 

1.4 Caring Jobs in Gloucestershire On Offer At A Major Recruitment Event 

A major recruitment event in September 2022 gave people interested in a caring role 

in Gloucestershire the chance to embark on a new career. Prospective candidates 

were fast-tracked into job opportunities within health and social care in 

Gloucestershire at a ‘one stop shop’ recruitment fair at Cheltenham Racecourse on 

Wednesday September 28. 

The event, which follows a dynamic new format, gave people the chance to walk in 

and get screened, registered and interviewed on the day. Candidates were told 

immediately if they are successful. Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 

Foundation Trust (GHC) Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHT), 

NHS Gloucestershire, Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) and the independent 

care sector are joining forces for the initiative which aimed to fill a large number of 

vacancies across the health and care sector locally. 

The recruitment fair included a demo zone and a learning zone where candidates 

could meet health and social care employees, get information about roles and 

organisations and find out about career progression. 

Candidates were routed through to an interview zone where health and care partners 

worked from one set of questions designed to find out about prospective employees’ 

values, capabilities and skills. Posts on offer included mental health, community, 

care homes, GP practice and hospital roles. 

Checks were carried out on successful candidates on the day. Anyone who was not 

successful will be given follow up support from the Department for Work and 

Pensions (DWP) and national careers service as well as local help. Candidates were  

able to register their preferred organisation and working patterns to help organisers 

match people to posts. 

1.5 Update on Safeguarding in the ICB 

The ICB Safeguarding Team was pleased to welcome a new Assistant Director for 

Safeguarding, who will also cover the role of Designated Nurse for Safeguarding 

Children. Mel Munday joins the team with considerable safeguarding experience 

having worked at Region level and at Somerset Clinical Commissioning Group. The 

team consists of a Designated Doctor, a Named GP and a Specialist Nurse. It was 

Page 87



  

10 
 

identified that the team needed to be enhanced due to the volume of work. 

Therefore, the ICB has recently appointed to the new post of Adult Safeguarding 

Manager who commenced in post at the start of November 2022. The Safeguarding 

Team and Executive Chief Nurse work closely with partners to protect the children 

and vulnerable adults in our community and are actively involved in many joint 

initiatives. The Executive Chief Nurse is the current chair of the Gloucestershire 

Safeguarding Children Partnership Executive 

 

1.6 Delivery through Deep Dives - a focus on Diabetes 

The ICB Strategic Executive held it’s first Deep Dive during September 2022 with the 

Diabetes Clinical Programme Group. The Deep Dives give a chance to focus on the 

benefits being created through the transformation programmes. Gloucestershire’s 

work on diabetes is now in it’s third year of delivery against a 10-year diabetes 

strategy where the aim is to slow the growth of the incidence of Type 2 diabetes in 

Gloucestershire and improve health outcomes for people with Type 1 and Type 2 

Diabetes. Good progress is being made in a number of key areas including 

 Appointment of a Diabetes Community Consultant –greater integration of 

hospital and community teams meaning more people can be seen closer to 

home and improved equity of care is offered to those in care homes and 

requiring care at home. 

 Significantly increased number of people attending National Diabetes 

Prevention Programme – this is a locally delivered programme that supports 

people at risk of diabetes. 

 Good clinical results from Gloucestershire’s participation in a national low 

calorie diet pilot programme  

 Good results from the 16+ transition service pilot which supports young adults 

with type 1 diabetes moving between children’s and adults’ services. 

 Continued emphasis on reducing inequality in access to care and outcomes 

across the programme including targeted work with Gloucester City and 

Forest of Dean utilising the community builder approach. 

 Development of improved information available to healthcare workers across 

the patient’s pathway to make joined up care easier and quicker. 

 
  

Page 88



  

11 
 

1.7 Department of Health and Social Care and NHS England 

Consultations 

 

Information regarding Department of Health and Social Care consultations is 

available via the GOV.UK website 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations 

 

Information regarding NHS England consultations is available via the NHS 

England website: https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/ 

The Department of Health and NHS England websites also include responses to 

closed consultations. 

 

Department of Health and Social Care  

Access to all government departments and many other agencies and public 

bodies have been merged into GOV.UK. 

Here you can see all news, communications, statistics and consultations. Find 

out how government services are performing and how satisfied users are 

https://www.gov.uk/ 

 

 
2.  Section 2: NHS Gloucestershire ICB primary 

medical care commissioning update  
 

These items are for information and noting. 

 

2.1 Focus on the Primary Care Infrastructure Plan (PCIP) overview & annual 

programme review 

 

Background 

The ICB’s responsibilities with regards to primary care premises are set out in The 

National Health Service (General Medical Services - Premises Costs) Directions 

2013 (PCDs) and include: 

 Managing the rents reimbursed to practices for the provision of general 

medical services in buildings owned by practices or another body, where the 

practice is a tenant; 

 Managing the reimbursement of business rates and other recurring expenses 

defined in the PCDs for the provision of general medical services in buildings 

owned by practices or another body, where the practice is a tenant; 

 Determining improvement grant priorities: the NHS can provide some funding 

to help surgeries improve or extend their building 

 Determining new primary care premises priorities; and 

Page 89

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/


  

12 
 

 Funding the annual revenue requirements of new premises as a result of 

additional/new rent reimbursement requirements. 

 

Context 

The current primary care strategy supports the vision for a safe, sustainable and 

high-quality primary care service, provided in modern premises that are fit for 

purpose. Within the strategy, there is a prioritised Primary Care Infrastructure Plan 

(PCIP), which covers targeted proposals for consideration up to 2026. The plan sets 

out out where investment is anticipated to be made in either new, or extended 

buildings, subject to business case approval and available funding. The focus of the 

PCIP is on the following: 

 A long-term horizon looking to needs up to 2031; 

 To ensure facilities can support service strategies in primary care including a 

greater range of services, supporting practice sustainability, facilitating 

transformation of operational delivery and new models of care; 

 Ensuring facilities are safe with focus on constraints caused by significant 

under sizing and the condition of the building; 

 Ensuring there is enough future capacity for service provision, through an 

understanding of evidenced housing and population growth; 

 Streamlined, timely and clear governance and decision-making processes; 

 Recognition that significant revenue investment required within a pipelined 

financial framework to meet strategic objective; 

 Seek national (ETTF), other funding sources (e.g. Section 106) and use of 

larger improvement grants wherever possible, to reduce revenue 

requirements. 

 

Around the equivalent of £63m capital investment has been approved across 20 

schemes. Nearly all completed and delivered. Four schemes will finish around the 

Autumn/Winter of this year and two approved schemes approved have yet to 

commence. 

 

Current active Strategic priorities 

9 strategic priorities are currently preparing detailed Business Cases that will now be 

considered by the Integrated Care Board. Details of the 9 schemes can be found in 

the meeting papers for the Primary Care and Direct Commissioning Committee, 

September 2022: https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/PCDC-

PT1-Public-Papers-6th-October-2022-v3.pdf  

 

Current challenges 

A report was provided earlier in the year regarding the impact post Brexit and COVID 

-19/ post pandemic issues, which have now been further impacted by the Russian 

invasion of Ukraine on the construction industry. There continues to be uncertainty in 

the market with potential for delays in procuring key materials for projects. It is 

Page 90

https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/PCDC-PT1-Public-Papers-6th-October-2022-v3.pdf
https://www.nhsglos.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/PCDC-PT1-Public-Papers-6th-October-2022-v3.pdf


  

13 
 

difficult to predict how/ when the market will recover and whether there will be further 

price increases to materials. Specifically, across Gloucestershire, there are several 

schemes and projects currently being impacted, or at risk of delivery now, or in the 

future, across the following broad themes:- 

 Delays in completing construction work caused by lack of and delays in 

receiving materials and supplies plus labour shortages; 

 Delays in completing detailed work prior to construction due to impact of 

pandemic working over the last two years; 

 The ability to complete successful tenders based on previously agreed 

financial appraisals, due to a volatile and significant inflationary constructive 

market since NHS approval granted; 

 The level of funding required for future schemes considering the volatile 

construction market over the next two to three years against NHS value for 

money and affordability. 

 

Since the HOSC meeting in October 2022, two GP premises developments 

have been in the news… 

 

Stroud patients set to benefit from superb new medical centre in time for 

Christmas 

The redevelopment of Number 1 King Street in Stroud is nearing the completion of 

its extensive programme of construction works, dramatically changing the landscape 

of this area of the town. 

Central to the work is the brand new £6.5m medical centre which will become the 

new home of two of the town’s established GP practices, Locking Hill Surgery and 

Stroud Valleys Family Practice which have now merged to become Five Valleys 

Medical Practice. 

The fully refurbished building will house the medical practice, a new first floor 

physiotherapy and podiatry suite operated by Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 

Foundation Trust as well as well as a new library, a coffee shop and office facilities. 

The development is a key part of Dransfield Properties’ work in the centre of Stroud 

and the redevelopment of the Five Valleys Shopping Centre, which to date has seen 

in excess of £25m of investment. 

The two GP practices have outgrown their current buildings and the new, modern 

facility will give them room to grow as well as allow them to extend the range of 

services they provide, expand training opportunities and support patients with 

complex needs who require more specialist treatment. 

The relocated physiotherapy and podiatry services will also be merged into one 

comprehensive clinic, as part of work to ensure best use of their estate and provide 

high quality premises. 

Page 91



  

14 
 

The new facilities will offer much improved accessibility for patients, being in a 

central part of the town within a short two-minute walk of the train and bus stations, a 

taxi rank and other amenities, including pharmacies. Medical centre visitors will 

benefit from 90 minutes free parking at the multi-storey car park at Five Valleys 

shopping centre with access directly from the top floor of the car park. 

The developers have made significant efforts to ensure the building is as green as 

possible, installing a 50KW solar farm to the roof and fitting a ground-breaking hybrid 

air source heat pump system, which converts air moisture into heating and cooling 

for the building. 

Work on Stroud’s new medical centre is scheduled to complete at the end of 

November, with the opening of the library to follow in the New Year. 

 

Mayor of Cheltenham celebrates official opening of The Wilson Health Centre 

Cheltenham’s fabulous new healthcare facilities at The Wilson Health Centre were 

officially opened by the Mayor of Cheltenham at a ceremony on Thursday 29 

September 2022.  

 

The Wilson Health Centre is home to three of the town’s GP surgeries, Berkeley 

Place Surgery, Prestbury Park Medical and Royal Crescent Surgery, and patients 

are already benefitting from the fantastic new premises which opened in June 2022. 

The Mayor met staff, patients and community partners who have worked with 

commitment and inspiration to create the health centre before cutting a ribbon and 

taking a short tour of the premises. 

Located on Prestbury Road, the centre has been created and constructed to be 

accessible, attractive and environmentally friendly, making positive impacts on the 

surrounding natural environment. Resources such as water and energy are being 

used efficiently, and ethical, sustainable materials have been used as much as 

possible. 

The practices are now providing care to around 25,000 local people, offering both 

GP surgery services alongside a range of other healthcare services such as an 

onsite pharmacy, dental services, physiotherapy, social prescribing and rooms to 

rent. The centre also includes additional consulting and treatment rooms to 

accommodate the growing demand for primary care services. This is enabling the 

practices to share resources, work more flexibly and offer extended opening times to 

patients. It also means that significantly more doctors, nurses and other healthcare 

professionals can receive training. 

  

Page 92



  

15 
 

2.2 Primary Care & Primary Care Network (PCN) Highlights 

 

2.2.1 Primary Care Strategy 

The Primary Care Strategy supports the vision for a safe, sustainable and high -

quality primary care service, provided in modern premises that are fit for purpose. 

The ambition is to support patients to stay well for longer, connect people to sources 

of community support and ensure people receive joined up out of hospital care. The 

six strategic components of the strategy, which we plan to update on within the 

report, are: access, primary care at scale, integration, greater use of technology, 

estates, and developing the workforce.  

 

2.2.2 PCN DES Contract 

The Network Contract Directed Enhanced Service (DES) was introduced during 

2019 and will remain in place until at least 31st March 2024. For 2022/23, an 

updated Network Contract DES https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/investment/gp-

contract/network-contract-directed-enhanced-service-des/ was released on 31st 

March 2022 and commenced on 1st April 2022. Due to Covid -19 placing pressures 

on primary care, certain aspects of the DES have previously been delayed and are 

now being introduced in a phased approach The PCN DES involves significant 

investment in new workforce through the ‘Additional Roles Reimbursement’ (ARR) 

Scheme, which requires an overarching ICS approach/offer to achieve delivery of 

this in a sustainable and equitable way without impacting the wider system. 

 

2.2.3 Autumn Covid-19 Booster:  

The Autumn Booster Programme is running from September 2022 to the end of 

December 2022 and will offer Boosters to everyone in Cohorts 1– 9 plus all ‘at risk’ 

groups for over 5-year-olds (Cohort 13, 14 and 17). 

For Gloucestershire ICB approximately 310.5k people are eligible for a Booster this 

autumn and with predicted uptake rates it is expected around 253k doses to be 

delivered over the 12 weeks. 

Sufficient capacity is available across the county’s PCN, Hospital Hub (HH) and 

Community Pharmacy (CP) delivery network. Key challenge will be aligning both 

Covid-19 and Flu vaccination delivery during a busy Autumn and early Winter period 

for Primary Care 

The initial vaccine for over 18s is a modified version of the Moderna vaccine. This 

Bivalent Moderna vaccine was delivered to sites w/c 5th September 2022 and first 

vaccinations were given to Care Home residents and some GHC inpatients on 6th 

September 2022. 

Priority cohorts for the first few weeks of the Autumn programme were Care Home 

Residents and the Housebound, PCNs and practices developed plans to complete 

most Care Home Residents before 23rd October 2022. 

Page 93

https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/investment/gp-contract/network-contract-directed-enhanced-service-des/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/investment/gp-contract/network-contract-directed-enhanced-service-des/


  

16 
 

A second Bivalent vaccine became available in late September 2022. The Pfizer 

Bivalent vaccine is approved for use by over 12s so can be used for Cohorts 13 and 

14. 

 

2.2.4 Severe Mental Illness physical health checks 

The national aim for SMI physical health checks for 2022/23 remains at 60%, and 

local plans are being put in place to help achieve this. The local PCN DES & IIF 

dashboard captures performance updates at practice and PCN level monthly. As of 

31 August, the ICB average for SMI physical health checks was 16.3% for 22/23; this 

is an increase of nearly 2% in the last month which is similar to last month. 

 

2.2.5 Learning Disability annual health checks 

The national aim for LD AHC for 2022/23 remains at 75%, and locally the aim is to 

have: 

 75% of people on the GP Learning disability register have received an annual 

health check during the year 

 100% of people having a LD Annual Health Check receive a Health Check 

Action Plan (HAP) 

 Increase the number of people on the GP LD Register from 0.63% of the 

general population to 0.65% 

 Increase the number of CYP onto the register to 1200; increasing the number 

of 14-17 year olds having LD AHC 75% 

 

As at 31 August 2022 (latest reported figures), the ICB average for LD patients with 

an Annual Health Check (AHC) and a Health Action Plan (HAP) 16.7%; an increase 

of 4.2% in the last month. Please note that historically most LD AHC take place in 

Q3 and Q4 in general practice. However, the Primary Care Team are planning how 

to further support practices during this time including regular progress reports and 

offers of support with an LD Nurse, where appropriate, who can: 

 support with completing Annual Health Checks with an HCA from the practice 

 support contacting those that have not received an Annual Health Check 

 support with considering reasonable adjustments 

 

2.2.6 Proposals for Mitcheldean Surgery expanding to include Drybrook Surgery  

At the time of preparing this Report, patients registered with Drybrook Surgery in the 

Forest of Dean have received letters informing them about some potential changes 

at Drybrook Surgery, a proposal to become a branch surgery of Mitcheldean 

Surgery.  

 

Despite the excellent work of the dedicated practice team and their commitment to 

patient care, the surgery has experienced significant pressure and has been looking 

at the options moving forward. In recent weeks, the practice team has been working 

Page 94



  

17 
 

closely with Mitcheldean Surgery and the local Integrated Care Board, NHS 

Gloucestershire.  

 

Mitcheldean Surgery is a friendly and forward-thinking practice with an excellent 

reputation for its high achieving and innovative approach. It has high patient 

satisfaction rates, a CQC ‘Good’ rating and fully committed to continuing to provide a 

full range of primary care services from Drybrook Surgery should the proposals be 

agreed. Both surgeries have had very similar approach to patient care, and if agreed, 

this proposal would not only make services at Drybrook stronger, but would also 

bring many other benefits including a wider range of skills and expertise, an 

increased number of services and a greater choice of appointments and clinics. This 

development would also offer a great opportunity for members of the practice teams 

to share, learn and develop their skills together meaning patients would benefit from 

the additional support and experience of the combined team. 

 

Should the proposals be agreed, patients have been reassured that a full range of 

primary care services would continue to be provided from the current surgery 

building in Drybrook and that they would be able to access services in the same way 

as they do now. They would also remain on the practice’s patient list so would not 

need to take any action.  

 

This is a very exciting development; should the proposals be approved, this would 

not only secure the future of Drybrook Surgery but would also bring real benefits to 

patients at both surgeries. 

 

3. Section 3: Local Providers’ updates  
This Section includes updates from Gloucestershire Health and Care Services 

NHS Foundation Trust (GHC), Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

(GHT) and South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWAST). 

 

These items are for information and noting. 

 

3.1 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHT)  

 

3.1.1  Operational Context 

The Trust remains operationally very busy but with recent improvements in urgent 

and emergency care (UEC) having been maintained. The renewed focus and efforts 

within the Trust continue to pay dividends with just three patients waiting more than 4 

hours to be offloaded from an ambulance (between 1-22 Nov) from a peak of 21 per 

day and 70% of ambulances being handed over within 60 minutes on average in the 

last seven days.  

 

Page 95



  

18 
 

 

 

 
 

The Category 2 response times continue to improve from the peak of 160 minutes 

and fall in a range of 27– 80 minutes with a mean of 44 minutes. Positively, the Trust 

is expected to exit Tier 1 of the NHSE/I performance framework by the end of the 

month, assuming current performance is sustained. 

 

The reasons for these improvements are multifactorial but the key contributor has 

been the decision to share risk more evenly across the UEC pathway by pre-empting 

more patients to our wards. This model is being advocated nationally, particularly to 

those in Tier 1. The early evidence indicates that this has reduced the risk in the 

community, at our front door and in our Emergency Department.  

 

This in itself is not without consequence, notably in respect of quality of care for 

patients who are pre-empted, which it is being very carefully monitored. Assurance in 

this regard was presented to the Trust Quality and Performance Committee in 

October 2022 and again in November.  An average of 21 patients were pre-empted 

across 21 wards at CGH and GRH, during the first week in November, which was a 

reduction of eight from the prior week. A total of 146 patients were pre-empted in the 

first week of November, compared to 235 in the peak week of 10th October 2022 

and this has now reduced further to 115 at GRH and 15 at CGH. Patient selection of 

those patients considered suitable for pre-empting continues to be key with 

significant focus on ensuring those patients who are most suitable are cared for in 

pre-empting spaces.  

 

Finally, across the county we have begun to see the first wave of winter pressures, 

with seasonal illnesses such as influenza and norovirus begin to appear and the 

continued circulation of COVID-19. Surveillance from Australia highlights that their 

winter illnesses, particularly influenza, came early and there was a short, sharp 

Page 96



  

19 
 

impact that was relatively short lived and the optimistic view is the same will occur for 

the UK.  

 

3.1.2 Elective Care 

Elective recovery remains very strong with the Trust holding its position regionally as 

the top performing Trust. Cancer performance continues to receive the Trust’s full 

attention with strong performance in many areas, including being the only Trust in 

the Region to be achieving the 28 Day Faster Diagnosis Standard (FDS). This is a 

particularly important standard as it is the point when patients have a diagnosis of 

cancer confirmed or ruled out – for the majority of patients this will result in good 

news and therefore with respect to patient experience is an important measure. 62 

day cancer performance remains the area of greatest concern with just 68.5% of 

patients treated with 62 days against a national standard of 85%; by way of context, 

this is the strongest performance in the South West. The specialties most affected 

are urology and colorectal and recovery plans are in place and being closely 

monitored by the Trusts Quality and Performance Committee. 

 

3.1.3 Industrial Action 

At the time of preparing this report, the Royal College of Nursing (RCN) had 

announced that industrial action will go ahead between the end of November and 

May 2023.  Other unions, including Unison, Unite, the Chartered Society of 

Physiotherapy (CSP) and the British Medical Association and are also balloting 

members over industrial action.  

 

Ultimately this is a national issue and is a matter for the Government and the 

trade unions to resolve, however, the Trust continues to work closely with local 

Staff Side and Union representatives as well as system partners who will all be 

impacted. 

 

We value our colleagues and understand that fair pay and conditions are 

important, not only for our teams and our families but for wider reasons such as 

retention and recruitment.  

 

3.1.4 Care Quality Commission – Progress   

Considerable work has gone into developing the action plans required by the 

Care Quality Commission in relation to statutory breaches identified in their 

report. These were submitted on the 1st November 2022 and oversight of these 

plans will be held at Committee level, with assurance back to the Board in the 

usual way.  

 

The Trust recently welcomed the CQC back on-site to undertake an announced 

inspection of radiotherapy and brachytherapy services. The final report is awaited 

but feedback on the day was positive. Unlike the Core Service inspections, this 

Page 97



  

20 
 

isn’t rated in the usual way but is reflected as “a pass or fail” judgment however 

written reports are still provided.  

 

3.1.5 Electronic Prescribing System 

November 2022 saw the first phase of roll-out of the Trust’s electronic prescribing 

system with the early adopter wards at Cheltenham General ahead of full roll-out 

to CGH on 9 November and GRH on the 23 November. Early signs are very 

positive with prescribers describing the systems as very easy to use and “a 

massive step forward”; nursing colleagues have been proactive in reporting their 

ward drug rounds have been “quicker and easier to undertake” this is especially 

good news as these rounds often consume many hours of a qualified nurses’ 

hours on duty.  

 

3.1.6 Planned General Surgery  

In 2019, the Trust set out its vision for two Centres of Excellence, through its Fit for 

the Future Programme which went on to be approved in 2021, following two years of 

extensive public and staff consultation, including input from an independent ‘Citizens’ 

Jury’. This vision, which is central to our Clinical Strategy, delivers greater separation 

of emergency and elective care reflecting the evidence that this has the potential to 

deliver better clinical outcomes, a more positive patient experience including reduced 

delays and cancellations. 

 

The Fit for the Future proposals, which involved a number of services including 

general surgery, were fully supported by system partners, the South West Clinical 

Senate, NHS England and the Trust Board.  Whilst the model for emergency general 

surgery was agreed through this process, further work was requested on the model 

for planned surgery with the challenge to develop a model which increased the 

volume of operations undertaken at the planned care Centre of Excellence at 

Cheltenham General Hospital (CGH). This change did not require further public 

consultation.  

 

The Planned General Surgery Service comprises two core specialties: Upper 

Gastrointestinal (UGI) and Colorectal surgery (CR). Historically, planned UGI surgery 

has been performed on the Gloucestershire (GRH) site and planned CR surgery has 

been performed at both Cheltenham and Gloucestershire hospitals.  

 

The benefits for patients treated in a planned care Centre of Excellence include 

patients being less likely to have their treatment or operation delayed or cancelled as 

diagnostic equipment, beds, theatres and critical care can be dedicated to planned 

care activity and not be impacted by the pressures of emergency care.  

 

Since February 2021, the Surgical Division has been reviewing the evidence and 

options to develop a model of service that would deliver the greatest benefits, for the 

Page 98



  

21 
 

greatest number of patients whist working with the constraints, resources and 

infrastructure available to us across our two hospital sites. 

 

On 15th November the Trust Leadership Team (TLT) approved the proposal to 

support the vision of creating a centre of excellence for planned UGI and CR 

surgery. The model presented enables an additional 1,500 patients to receive their 

care in the planned care Centres of Excellence at Cheltenham General Hospital. To 

enable these benefits to be realised through a rebalancing of beds and theatres, the 

model proposes that 140 resectional colorectal surgery patients transfer from 

Cheltenham General to Gloucestershire Royal bringing together two separate 

services, into a single service with the associated benefits of centralised services. 

 

Following the decision by TLT, a full Decision-Making Business Case (DMBC) will be 

developed setting out the costs, workforce plan and operational delivery model.  This 

will be subject to external scrutiny and due diligence before being presented to the 

Trust Board in January 2023.If supported by the Trust Board, NHS Gloucestershire 

Integrated Care Board would review prior to commencement of planning for 

implementation, which would commence with the aim of establishing the new model 

during summer 2023.  

 

3.1.7 Transformation of Tower Block   

The Trust has secured £10.9m funding to transform the 1970s Tower Block, which 

holds many of our inpatient wards, into a more modern, contemporary and elegant 

building which will enhance energy efficiency, significantly reduce carbon emissions 

and improve the architectural aesthetics of the city.  

 

To ensure the scheme achieves its full potential the Hospitals Trust will invest an 

additional £1.2m capital funding meaning a total funding package of £12.1m. Subject 

to planning approval it is hoped work will start in the spring to be completed by winter 

2024.  

 

The 11-storey Tower Block will be wrapped in two-toned façade panelling. The 

projecting balconies will be overlayed in matt silver panels which will angle back to 

the main face of the tower. The main façade will be a darker grey than the silver to 

the walkways to give a contrast, reflecting the original projecting walkway. The 

existing windows will also be replaced with modern, contemporary tripled glazed 

windows throughout creating a general aesthetic of elegant simplicity.   

 

Other features of the work programme include the installation of a 200kW air source 

heat pump which will provide low carbon heat to the hospital, as well as upgrades to 

the heating hot water controls systems which will further reduce energy usage and 

carbon emissions. Works also include the installation of roof insulation to the kitchen 

and restaurant area and improvements to the steam distribution system which will 

also generate carbon and financial savings.  Once complete, the Trust’s carbon 

Page 99



  

22 
 

footprint will be reduced by 1,389 tonnes a year while achieving energy efficiency 

savings in excess of £82,000 per year.  This investment comes on top of an existing 

capital programme of more than £100m which is enabling us to realise our vision for 

centres of excellence at our Cheltenham and Gloucester acute hospital sites. 

 

3.1.8 Tobacco Treatment team 

The Trust has introduced a new in-house Tobacco Dependency Service 

providing support to inpatients who are smokers. The team started on 1 

November 2022 with a pilot interventions programme. 

 

A hospital admission is likely to give any smoker new reasons to quit. Many 

smokers find quitting difficult due to addiction, previous failed quits and living or 

working around other smokers. Being admitted to the NHS can present a 

compelling opportunity to stop smoking, or at least stop while in hospital to 

improve the chances of a quick and successful recovery. The new Tackling 

Tobacco Treatment Service for patients who smoke will ensure that every smoker 

admitted to hospital or engaged with maternity services will be asked if they 

smoke and given the support to remain tobacco free. 

  

The Tobacco Dependency Service aims to support smokers by treating their 

addiction during their stay in hospital. 

 

3.1.9 New Specialist Gynaecology Unit opens at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital 

A dedicated Gynaecology ward, together with a new Emergency Gynaecology 

Admissions Unit (GAU) has opened on Ward 9a at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital 

(GRH). The new specialist gynaecology unit represents a move back to pre-

pandemic status at GRH and is great news for women in the county suffering from a 

wide range of conditions related to women’s reproductive health. 

 

Although women had continued to benefit from care and treatment from specialist 

teams at GRH during the pandemic, previous COVID-related ward changes meant 

that their post-operative care was often delivered on general surgical wards. The 

emergency GAU will operate from 8am to 8.30pm seven days a week and will 

ensure that women presenting to the Emergency Department (ED) can access 

specialist care in an appropriate setting as quickly as possible, as well as accepting 

direct referrals from GPs. 

 

3.1.10 T-level placements at county’s hospitals 

Gloucestershire Hospitals is working closely with Gloucestershire Health and 

Care NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) to offer industry placements to students studying 

for new T-Level courses at Gloucestershire College. 

 

Launched by the government in 2020, T-Levels are regarded as one of the biggest 

reforms to technical education; students can opt to take these courses instead of A-

Page 100



  

23 
 

Levels following their GCSE exams. They were developed in collaboration with 

employers and businesses to ensure that the content of the courses meets the 

needs of employers while preparing students for work, further training or study. 

 

As a 2-year technical programme for young people aged 16 – 19, industry 

placements are a mandatory and critical part of a T-Level and demonstrate a shift 

from traditional work experience to a longer, more substantial period in the 

workplace. Gloucestershire College began offering the Health & Science – Adult 

Nursing T-Level from this September and both NHS Trusts will be hosting 

placements for these students from spring next year. 

 

3.1.11 Welcome and Farewells  

In comings and goings, this month we said goodbye to Vivien Mortimer, Chief 

Midwife and Divisional Director of Quality & Nursing Women’s and Children’s 

Services. huge number of colleagues, past and present, attended a surprise tea 

party to thank and acknowledge the huge contribution that Viv has made over 

more than two decades to women and children during her time in the Trust.  

 

Following a competitive process, Kate Hellier has been appointed as Deputy 

Medical Director following the decision by Alex D’Agapeyeff to step down after 

five years in the role. Kate brings a wealth of clinical and management 

experience as clinical lead for stroke, specialty director, Chief of Service for 

Diagnostic and Specialties Division and one of the Trust’s first Gloucestershire 

Safety and Quality Improvement Academy (GSQIA) Gold Coach. More recently, 

Kate has played a pivotal role in the Trust’s digital programme. 

 

3.1.12 Awards 

We are delighted that One Gloucestershire was a winner in the Health Service 

Journal (HSJ) Patient Safety Awards in the Safeguarding Category for the work 

led by Shona Duffy, Homeless Specialist Nurse. This is another in an increasingly 

long line of national recognitions for this pioneering work. 

 
 

3.2 Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust  
 
3.2.1 New Chief Executive Appointed 

A new Chief Executive Officer has been appointed to Gloucestershire Health and 

Care NHS Foundation Trust. Douglas Blair will take up the role in 2023, following the 

planned retirement in March 2023 of our current Chief Executive, Paul Roberts. 

Douglas is currently Managing Director of Wiltshire Health and Care, which delivers 

adult community health and learning disability services in Wiltshire, a role he has 

held since its establishment in July 2016.   

 
  

Page 101



  

24 
 

3.2.2 Oliver McGowan Training 

The long-awaited rollout of the Oliver McGowan Mandatory Training in Learning 

Disability and Autism was officially launched in England on 1 November 2022. The 

training, which passed into law in May this year as part of the Health and Care Act 

2022, will educate and train health and social care staff, at the right level for their 

role, to provide better health and social care outcomes for people with a learning 

disability and autistic people. 

 

The launch follows years of tireless campaigning by Oliver’s parents Tom and Paula 

McGowan, who have been at the forefront of calls for better understanding and 

training for health and care professionals since 18-year-old Oliver’s tragic death in 

2016, as a result of being given anti-psychotic medication. 

 

Gloucestershire Health and Care formed one of four national partners appointed in 

2021 to co-design and co-deliver the training as part of a national trial to develop a 

standardised training package. It will make a huge difference to people with a 

learning disability and autistic people with or without a learning disability, in 

accessing the help they need from the NHS and social care in a way that meets their 

needs effectively. 

 

3.2.3 Public Sector Excellence Award 

GHC was declared the winner of the Public Sector Excellence category at the 

SoGlos Gloucestershire Business Awards 2022. More than 300 guests gathered for 

the evening at the University of Gloucestershire’s Business School at its Oxstalls 

campus in Gloucester for the awards ceremony and networking. Director of Nursing, 

John Trevains, collected the award on the Trust’s behalf saying it was for the “5,500 

staff who worked tirelessly and continue to do so, to deliver so much care for our 

community and those we love.” 

 

3.2.4 CQC Annual Patient Survey 

Every year the Care Quality Commission undertakes a survey of mental health 

patients to better understand their experiences of community-based specialist mental 

health services. The results were published in October 2022. 

 Feedback from patients has held up well which is encouraging given the 

significant pressures that mental health services are encountering. 

 In summary, GHC performance compared with other Trusts was as follows 

against the 30 measures: 

o the Trust is better than expected in10 and, 

o the same as expected in 20, and,  

o It is worse than expected in none of the measures. 

 The CQC groups its responses into 10 themes – GHC was one of the top 5 

Trusts nationally for 7 of these themes and was 5th for “overall views of 

care and services”. 

Page 102



  

25 
 

 Two areas in which feedback has worsened are experience of talking therapies and 

of crisis services. We will explore these issues further. 

 

3.2.5 Launch of Sustainability Strategy 

A Sustainability Strategy has been published, laying out GHC’s approach for the next 

three years. The Trust has been working hard to be a more sustainable Trust for 

many years. We have embedded sustainability as one of our four strategic aims, 

reduced our energy consumption through switching lights to LED, generated 

electricity through the installation of solar panels, created two NHS forests to protect 

biodiversity and enable nature-based solutions to care and supported wider work in 

the NHS long-term plan, such as care closer to home. The three-year Green Plan 

sets out goals and targets to help us reduce our impact on the environment, as well 

as saving money and improving the local communities we serve.  

 

 

3.3 South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust - Update 

 

3.3.1 SWASFT’S Staying Well Service shortlisted for Team of the Year at national 

awards 

The Trust is excited to announce that the Staying Well Service has been named a 

finalist for the 2023 Great British Workplace Wellbeing Awards ahead of the national 

final in March 2023. The awards recognise the people and organisations who are 

helping to make a true difference to the lives of our nation’s working population.  

Lauren Dunn, Head of Wellbeing & Occupational Health for the Staying Well Service 

said: “We feel incredibly privileged to be shortlisted for this Team of the Year award. 

I am beyond proud of the Staying Well Service team and their continued dedication 

and passion they all hold, and their pure desire to support their colleagues.” 

 

3.3.2 South Western Ambulance Charity wins at NHS Communicate Awards 

SWASFTs Outrun an Ambulance charity fundraising campaign has won the 2022 

NHS Communicate Award for ‘Working in Partnership’. Outrun an Ambulance was 

originally inspired by an idea from paramedic Shannon Witts and developed by Zoe 

Larter in our charity. Launched during the pandemic as a virtual event that 

challenged competitors to conquer the mileage an ambulance covers in one shift. In 

2022, it was run as a collaboration between ambulance charities across the country 

and has raised over £20,000 already this year to support ambulance staff and 

volunteers. 

 

3.3.3 New SWASFT Chair 

The South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust is delighted to 

announce that the Council of Governors has appointed Stephen Otter as the new 

Chair of the Trust.  

 

Page 103



  

26 
 

Stephen brings with him a wealth of experience, including as a previous chief 

constable of Devon and Cornwall and a non-executive director at Taunton and 

Somerset NHS Foundation Trust. He has significant experience in driving cultural 

change and delivering transformational benefits for organisations.  

  

The Trust would like to thank Gail Bragg formally for stepping in as Interim Chair for 

the past six months following former chair Tony Fox’s departure. Gail has done an 

excellent job moving both the Board and the Trust forward significantly in this time. 

She will continue to hold the post until a full handover has been completed with 

Stephen. Stephen will start in early January 2023. 

 

 

4. Recommendations 
This report is provided for information and HOSC Members are invited to note the 

contents. 

 

Dame Gill Morgan     Mary Hutton  

Chair        Chief Executive 

NHS Gloucestershire ICB    NHS Gloucestershire ICB 

 

 

Page 104


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	6 Reducing Health Inequalities (Council Motion 881)
	 Urgent Item: Care Quality Commission Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Inspection Report

	5 NHS Dentistry
	Item 5 - Oral Health Promotion Report

	6 Mental Health Update
	7 Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (GICS) Performance Report
	8 NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board (ICB) Report

